Fetal death:

high maternal age at childbirth and the placenta

Camilla Haavaldsen

Department of Gynaecology and Obstetrics Akershus University Hospital and Institute of Clinical Medicine Akershus University Hospital University of Oslo

Lørenskog 2014





© Camilla Haavaldsen, 2014

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo No. 1764

ISBN 978-82-8264-765-6

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Inger Sandved Anfinsen. Printed in Norway: AIT Oslo AS.

Produced in co-operation with Akademika Publishing. The thesis is produced by Akademika Publishing merely in connection with the thesis defence. Kindly direct all inquiries regarding the thesis to the copyright holder or the unit which grants the doctorate.

To my most beloved father, who I lost while writing this thesis. You have been in my thoughts every day since you had to let life go. I wish you could have been here with me today.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements				
Abb	previations	9		
Pap	ers included in the thesis	11		
1.	Introduction	13		
	1.1 Fetal death	13		
	1.1.1 Definition	13		
	1.1.2 Fetal death rates	13		
	1.1.3 Classification systems	15		
	1.1.4 Aetiology	16		
	1.1.5 Risk factors	23		
	1.2 Fetal death: high maternal age at childbirth	27		
	1.2.1 Maternal age at childbirth: changing trends and			
	consequences for pregnancy outcome	27		
	1.2.2 Maternal age and gestational age-specific fetal death	33		
	1.3 Fetal death: the placenta	33		
	1.3.1 Placental function	33		
	1.3.2 Placental development	34		
	1.3.3 Uteroplacental insufficiency and fetal death	35		
	1.3.4 Indicators of placental function	36		
	1.3.5 Maternal age and placental function	37		
2.	Background and objectives of the thesis	38		
3.	Study objectives	40		
4.	Materials and methods	41		
	4.1 The Medical Birth Registry of Norway	41		
	4.1.1 Paper I – Aim, design, study population, variables and			
	statistical analyses	41		
	4.1.2 Paper II – Aim, design, study population, variables and			
	statistical analyses	45		
	4.1.3 Paper III – Aim, design, study population, variables and			
	statistical analyses	48		
	4.2 Ethical aspects	51		

5.	Synopsis of the presented studies	52		
6.	General discussion	55		
	6.1 Main results	55		
	6.1.1 Paper I	55		
	6.1.2 Paper II	55		
	6.1.3 Paper III	55		
	6.2 Methodological considerations	55		
	6.2.1 Strengths and limitations of the studies	55		
	6.2.2 Selection bias	56		
	6.2.3 Information bias	57		
	6.2.4 Confounding	60		
	6.3 Interpretation of the results	62		
	6.3.1 The increased risk of fetal death in older mothers	62		
	6.3.2 Placental size in pregnancies with fetal death	74		
	6.3.3 Placental size in pregnancies with high maternal age	78		
	6.4 Clinical implications	79		
7.	Future perspectives	81		
8.	Conclusions	82		
9.	Reference list	83		
Appendix				
	Papers I-III			

Notification forms, Medical Birth Registry of Norway

Acknowledgements

First of all, I want to express my gratitude to my inspiring and always enthusiastic supervisor, Professor Anne Eskild. You introduced me to the fascinating world of research, and have renounced your spare time, weekends and holidays to give me feedback. I will always be grateful for the patience you have had with me.

I want to thank Professor Sven Ove Samuelsen, my secondary supervisor, for your collaboration on the three manuscripts. I am deeply thankful for your statistical advice.

I will always be thankful to my dear friend and colleague, Dr Ashi Ahmad, for your priceless collaboration on the first manuscript and for teaching me SPSS and statistics. Thank you for sharing the ups and downs with me, and for listening to my frustrations. You have been an inspiration during my work on this thesis.

Thank you Dr Arne Urnes, former head of the Department of Gynaecology and Obstetrics at Akershus University Hospital, for letting me work part-time in the clinic during my PhD studies. Without a practical job outside of my research, it would have been difficult for me to keep my motivation for long hours in front of the computer. You took me under your wing when I came to Akershus University Hospital as a student in 2005, and kept me there since, and I appreciate it.

I would also like to thank Dr Hege Lundring, current head of the Department of Gynaecology and Obstetrics at Akershus University Hospital and Dr Pernille Schjønsby for allowing me to take some time off from my clinical work during the completion of my thesis.

I owe gratitude to Akershus University Hospital and the South-Eastern Regional Health Authority in Norway for the financial support that made it possible for me to write this thesis.

Furthermore, I want to thank senior researcher Lars Monkerud and Professor Jostein Grytten at the University of Oslo for performing supplementary statistical analyses regarding changes in socioeconomic status since 1967 in childbearing women.

I am thankful to my research fellows at the Department of Gynaecology and Obstetrics for the thought-provoking discussions at our Wednesday meetings. Special thanks to Ellen Marie Strøm-Roum and Kristina Lindemann for critically revising my thesis, and to Zainab Naimy for technical support.

Thank you Dr Paul Skoll, plastic surgeon in Cape Town, South Africa, for encouraging me to study medicine in the first place. The month I stayed at the Red Cross War Memorial Children's Hospital with you made a huge impression on me, and made me dream about specialising in plastic surgery for a long time.

I am tremendously thankful to my dearest mother and my late father for your love and support. You have always been there for me, believed in me and encouraged me in my choices. I also thank my lovely grandparents for your care and for being proud of me.

A special thanks to my husband Marius, and to my little sunshines Andor and Solan for reminding me what is important in life. You are the world to me.

Lørenskog, January 2014

Camilla Haavaldsen

Abbreviations

Assisted reproductive technology
Body mass index
Confidence interval
Cervical intraepithelial neoplasia
Cardiotocography
Fibroblast growth factor
Human chorionic gonadotropin
Human chorionic thyreotropin
Human placental lactogen
International Classification of Diseases, 10 th Revision
Neonatal intensive care unit
Odds ratio
Pulsatility index
Placental growth factor
Premature rupture of membranes
Preterm premature rupture of membranes
Relative risk
Vascular endothelial growth factor
World Health Organization

Papers included in the thesis

- I Haavaldsen C, Sarfraz AA, Samuelsen SO, Eskild A. The impact of maternal age on fetal death: does length of gestation matter? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2010;203:554.e1-554.e8.
- II Haavaldsen C, Samuelsen SO, Eskild A. Fetal death and placental weight/birthweight ratio: a population study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2013;92:583-590
- **III** Haavaldsen C, Samuelsen SO, Eskild A. The association of maternal age with placental weight: a population-based study of 536 954 pregnancies. *BJOG* 2011;118:1470-1476.

1 Introduction

1.1 Fetal death

1.1.1 Definition

The definition of fetal death varies considerably between countries.^{1,2} Some countries define fetal death as the birth of a dead fetus at 18 weeks of gestation or above, while others set the limit at 28 weeks or above.¹ When length of gestation is unknown, birthweight is often used to distinguish fetal death from a miscarriage, and the birthweights used to define fetal death vary from 350 to 500 grams or above.^{3,4} The International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision (ICD-10),⁵ compiled by the World Health Organization (WHO), describes fetal death as "death prior to the complete expulsion or extraction from its mother of a product of conception, irrespective of the duration of pregnancy; the death is indicated by the fact that after such separation the fetus does not breathe or show any other evidence of life, such as beating of the heart, pulsation of the umbilical cord or definite movement of voluntary muscles."⁶ Furthermore, the WHO defines fetal death by a birthweight of 500 grams or above, or a gestational length of 22 weeks or above. If both birthweight and length of gestation are unknown, a crown-heel length of the fetus of 25 centimetres or above is used.⁵ Many countries, including Norway, have adopted the WHO's definition of fetal death.⁷

The varying definitions of fetal death make comparison of fetal death rates between countries difficult. Therefore, for international comparability, the WHO recommends reporting of the birth of a dead fetus born at 28 weeks of gestation or above, or with a birthweight of 1000 grams or above.⁶

1.1.2 Fetal death rates

It is difficult to obtain reliable global estimates of fetal death rates, not only because of the varying definitions, but also because of the lack of systematic reporting in many countries.⁸ Thus, fetal death rates are probably underestimated, particularly in developing countries. In a WHO report from the year 2000, 3.3 million fetal deaths were estimated to occur every

year.⁶ However, the latest study, which was supported by the WHO, gave a global estimate of 2.6 million fetal deaths for the year 2009.⁹ Although the global fetal death rate is declining, the differences in rates between countries are still substantial, with 2 deaths per 1000 births at 28 weeks of gestation or above in Finland and Singapore, and 47 deaths per 1000 births in Pakistan (Figure 1).⁹ Large countries like China, India, Bangladesh and Mexico have made progress in reducing the number of fetal deaths, whereas the decline has been small in other countries in south Asia and in sub-Saharan Africa, where 76.2% of all fetal deaths occur.⁹ In these countries, access to antenatal care and skilled birth attendance is limited, and the caesarean section rate is low, particularly in rural areas.¹



Figure 1. Global fetal death rates (referred to as stillbirth rate in the figure) per 1000 births at 28 weeks of gestation or above, or with birthweight of 1000 grams or above, in 2009. Adapted from: www.chartsbin.com.

According to the Medical Birth Registry of Norway, the fetal death rate in Norway in 2009 was 2.2 per 1000 births at 28 weeks of gestation or above.¹⁰ Thus, Norway has one of the lowest fetal death rates in the world. Since 1967, the fetal death rate at 22 weeks of gestation or above has declined by almost 70% (Figure 2).¹¹ This reduction may be explained by improved diagnostic tools to determine fetal well-being, such as ultrasonographic examinations and the introduction of cardiotocography (CTG).



Figure 2. Changes in fetal death rates at 22 weeks of gestation or above in Norway during the period 1967-2009.

Source: Medical Birth Registry of Norway, www.mfr.no.

1.1.3 Classification systems

The classification of fetal death is a crucial step towards the goal of reducing its occurrence, but classification is also important in research to address knowledge gaps and to enable regional and international comparisons.¹² The use of suboptimal classification systems leads to a high proportion of unclassifiable, and thereby unexplained fetal deaths, which are often interpreted as unavoidable.¹² There is a wide variety of classification systems for fetal death in the literature, which reflect differences in criteria and in available information over time and between countries.¹³ Fetal death may be classified by length of gestation at birth, where death before 28 weeks of gestation is defined as early fetal death and death at 28 weeks of gestation or above is defined as late fetal death.¹⁴ Fetal death can also be classified according to the onset of labour, where antepartum fetal deaths occur before the completion of delivery.¹⁴ Finally, fetal deaths may be classified according to cause of death. Numerous attempts have been made to classify the causes of fetal death, but no classification system has been universally accepted.¹⁵ One reason for the lack of a

cause-specific classification system may be that the causes of fetal death remain largely unknown.

1.1.4 Aetiology

It is difficult to differentiate between the causes of, and the risk factors for fetal death. The cause, or aetiology, of fetal death is the direct reason why death occurs, while the risk factors increase the chance of fetal demise. However, different maternal medical disorders, such as diabetes, chronic hypertension and preeclampsia, have been suggested as direct causes of fetal death by some authors,¹⁶ but are considered risk factors by others.¹⁷ Whether some factors, such as maternal medical disorders, will lead to fetal death may depend on the availability of antenatal and obstetric care. For instance, in many developing countries, preeclampsia is a leading cause of fetal death, probably because of timely intervention in preeclamptic pregnancies.¹⁸ Several studies have been performed with the aim to understand the causes of fetal death,¹⁹ but often the cause could not be explained by placental, fetal, or maternal factors. Of all fetal deaths in Norway, a large proportion has no identified cause.²⁰ In the following, some of the factors that have been suggested to be direct causes of fetal death are presented.

1.1.4.1 Placental causes of fetal death (25-35%)²¹

Uteroplacental insufficiency. Low uteroplacental blood flow can cause acute hypoxia, or if long-standing, chronic hypoxaemia with intrauterine growth restriction and eventually cessation of circulation and thereby fetal death.²² A further description of uteroplacental insufficiency as a possible cause of fetal death is presented below (1.3.3).

Umbilical cord complications. Umbilical cord complications occur occasionally and may be life-threatening to the fetus. For instance, umbilical cord prolapse can compromise the blood flow through the umbilical vessels and thereby cause fetal death. Cord occlusion and cord abnormalities, such as vasa praevia, are other umbilical cord complications that may result in fetal death.²³

Placental abruption. The separation of the placenta from the decidua may lead to

intrauterine growth restriction or preterm delivery in mild cases of abruption. However, in massive abruptions, the risk of fetal death due to haemorrhage and hypoxia is high.²⁴ Although the prevalence of placental abruption is low (about 1% of all pregnancies), it contributes to a substantial proportion of all fetal deaths.²⁵

Placenta praevia. Placenta praevia refers to the presence of placental tissue proximate to, or extending over, the internal cervical os.²⁶ Severe bleedings from a placenta praevia may cause fetal death due to haemorrhage and hypoxia. However placenta praevia has been an uncommon cause of fetal death in the Western world since the introduction of ultrasonographic examinations in pregnancy.²⁷ This may be attributed to early detection, increased monitoring during pregnancy and performance of caesarean section in cases with placenta praevia.

Feto-maternal haemorrhage. Feto-maternal haemorrhage, which may occur spontaneously or due to traumatic injuries to the placental interface, is defined as the loss of fetal blood cells into the maternal circulation.²⁸ It may lead to cardiovascular decompensation, stroke, disseminated intravascular coagulation and death due to hypoxia.²⁹ An acute loss of one-fifth of the fetoplacental blood volume, which represents 50 ml or above at term, is generally considered lethal.²⁸

1.1.4.2 Fetal causes of fetal death (25-40%)²¹

Chromosomal abnormalities. Chromosomal abnormalities of fetal karyotype, such as trisomies, monosomy X and chromosome rearrangements, generally cause miscarriage in the first trimester, but are also associated with 5-10% of fetal deaths.³⁰

Congenital anomalies. Congenital anomalies unrelated to chromosomal abnormalities are a major cause of miscarriage. Some anomalies are incompatible with *in utero* survival. In Europe, 2% of pregnancies with congenital anomalies result in fetal death.³¹ The global rates of fetal death caused by congenital anomalies vary, and depend on maternal nutrition, environmental exposures, availability of prenatal diagnostic tools and access to induced abortion at the woman's request.³²

Infections. Infections may cause fetal death through different pathways.^{33,34} Severe

maternal infections can result in fetal death without the infectious agent ever being transmitted to the placenta or the fetus. In these cases, fetal death may occur as a consequence of maternal respiratory distress, high maternal fever, or other systemic reactions to the infection.³⁴ Placental infections can result in placental damage, and thus reduced blood flow from the placenta to the fetus, without transmitting the infectious agent to the fetus. Malaria (*Plasmodium falciparum*) is an example of an infectious disease that causes placental damage.³⁴ Direct infection of the fetus through the placenta or infected membranes (chorioamnionitis) can also cause fetal death through the destruction of fetal vital organs.³⁴ The infectious agent may be spread haematogenously, as is the case for the rubella virus, or may ascend from the vagina into the uterus, as in group B streptococcal chorioamnionitis.³⁴ Fetal death due to infection is more frequent in developing countries and is more likely to occur in the second than the third trimester.^{27,33,34}

1.1.4.3 Maternal causes of fetal death (5-10%)²¹

Uterine rupture. Although uterine rupture is rare, it can have catastrophic consequences for mother and fetus.³⁵ Fetal death occurs in these cases as a result of haemorrhage and hypoxia.

Delivery complications. Delivery complications such as shoulder dystocia, malpresentation of the fetus, or prolonged labour may cause intrapartum asphyxia, defined as an acute severe deficient supply of oxygen to the fetus. An umbilical artery pH-value below 7.00 and base deficit of 12 mmol/l or above,³⁶ influences the brain and vital tissues of the fetus. It can cause neonatal encephalopathy, neurological impairment, multiorgan failure, or fetal death.³⁷ Some of the fetal deaths caused by delivery complications with asphyxia could also be categorised as having fetal causes.

Rhesus isoimmunisation. Rhesus isoimmunisation causes fetal haemolysis and has become a very rare cause of fetal death in developed countries.³⁸ There are no reliable estimates of fetal deaths related to Rhesus isoimmunisation in developing countries, as many of them lack the necessary diagnostic capabilities.

Preterm delivery. Spontaneous uterine contractions occurring before the offspring is mature enough to survive *ex utero* may cause intrapartum fetal death or death shortly after

18

delivery.³⁹ However, guidelines for antenatal and postnatal care have changed with the increasing availability of diagnostic and therapeutic facilities for immature infants, and thus the prognosis of survival has changed accordingly.⁴⁰

The causes of fetal death vary between developing and developed countries. In the developing world a larger proportion of fetal deaths occur intrapartum,⁴¹ and one of the main causes of fetal death is delivery complications with intrapartum asphyxia. Other frequently reported causes of fetal death in developing countries are congenital anomalies, infections and fetal deaths related to maternal hypertension.⁴² Common causes of fetal death in the Western world are intrauterine growth restriction as a consequence of placental dysfunction, placental abruption and congenital anomalies. However, in developed countries, most fetal deaths are still unexplained.⁴² Potential causes of fetal death and their associated risk factors are presented below (Figures 3-5).



Figure 3. Placental causes of fetal death and their associated risk factors.



PPROM: Preterm premature rupture of membranes

Figure 4. Fetal causes of fetal death and their associated risk factors.



Figure 5. Maternal causes of fetal death and their associated risk factors.

1.1.5 Risk factors

Identification of factors that increase the risk of fetal death may increase our understanding of the mechanisms and the causes of fetal death. In a review by Fretts et al, which included 113 studies performed in developed countries, several risk factors for fetal death were identified (Table 1).¹⁹

Table 1. The estimated associations of maternal risk factors with the risk of fetal death.Adapted from: Fretts RC. Etiology and prevention of stillbirth. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*2005;193:1923-1925.

Condition	Prevalence (%)	Stillbirths per 1000 births	Odds ratio
All pregnancies		6.4	1.0
Low risk pregnancies	80	4.0-5.5	0.86
Nulliparity	40	7-8	1.2-3.0
Hypertensive disorder			
Chronic hypertension	6-10	6-25	1.5-2.7
Pregnancy induced hypertension			
Mild	5.8-7.7	9-51	1.2-4.0
Severe	1.3-3.3	12-29	1.8-4.4
Diabetes			
Treated with diet	2.5-5	6-10	1.2-2.2
Treated with insulin	2.4	6-35	1.7-7.0
Systemic lupus erythematosus	<1	40-150	6-20
Renal disease	<1	15-200	2.2-30
Thyroid disorders	0.2-2	12-20	2.2-3.0
Thrombophilia	1-5	18-40	2.8-5.0
Cholestasis of pregnancy	< 0.1	12-30	1.9-4.4
Smoking > 10 cigarettes	10-20	10-15	1.7-3.0
Obesity (prepregnancy)			
BMI 25-29.9 kg/m ²	21	12-15	1.9-2.7
BMI $> 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$	20	13-18	2.1-2.8
Low educational attainment	30	10-13	1.6-2.0
Previous growth restricted infant	6.7	12-30	2-4.6
Previous caesarean section	24-28	6-13	1.0-2.0
Previous stillbirth	0.5-1.0	9-20	1.4-3.2
Multiple gestation	2-3.5		
Twins	2.7	12	1.0-2.8
Triplets	0.14	34	2.8-3.7
Advanced maternal age (ref <35)			
35-39	15-18	11-14	1.8-2.2
40+	2	11-21	1.8-3.3
Black compared to white	15	12-14	2.0-2.2

In addition to the risk factors presented in the table above, other factors have also been suggested to be associated with fetal death:

Preeclampsia. Hypertensive disorders in pregnancy often include chronic hypertension, pregnancy induced hypertension and preeclampsia.⁴³ However, preeclampsia was not listed as a hypertensive disorder in Table 1. Preeclampsia increases the risk of placental

abruption, preterm delivery, intrauterine growth restriction, and may also be directly associated with fetal death.¹⁶ The relative risk (RR) for fetal death in pregnancies with preeclampsia has decreased in Norway in recent time: RR 1.17 (95% confidence interval (CI) 1.04-1.33) compared to normotensive pregnancies.⁴³

Multiparity. Parity has a U-shaped association with fetal death, as the risk of fetal death is increased in both nulliparous and multiparous women. However, the reporting of fetal death risk in multiparous women is not consistent.^{44,45} In women with more than four previous births, the risk of fetal death has been suggested to increase consistently with ascending parity: odds ratio (OR) 1.05 (95% CI 1.02-1.05) in women with 5-9 previous live births compared to women with 1-4 previous live births. The corresponding OR in women with 10-14 previous live births is 1.97 (95% CI 1.81-2.15).⁴⁶

Marital status. Women who are neither married nor cohabiting have been suggested to have a higher risk of fetal death: OR 1.9 (95% CI 1.4-2.6) compared to married or cohabiting women.⁴⁷

Advanced paternal age. Advanced paternal age has, independent of maternal age, been suggested to increase the risk of fetal death, and the risk seems to increase when paternal age exceeds 45 years.⁴⁸ The risk of fetal death is particularly high when an older father is paired with a woman aged 30 years or older.⁴⁹ However, the increased risk of fetal death in older compared to younger fathers is small.

Caffeine consumption. Excessive coffee consumption (≥ 8 cups of coffee/day) during pregnancy has been suggested to increase the risk of fetal death: OR 3.0 (95% CI 1.5-5.9) compared to women who did not drink coffee during pregnancy.⁵⁰

Low socioeconomic status. Unskilled workers performing manual labour (blue-collar workers) have been suggested to have an increased risk of fetal death: OR 2.2 (95% CI 1.3-3.7) compared to workers in high-level professional, managerial, or administrative positions (white-collar workers).⁵¹

ART. Pregnancies conceived by ART have an increased risk of fetal death: OR 2.55 (95% CI 1.78-3.64) compared to spontaneously conceived pregnancies.⁵²

Length of gestation. The causes of fetal death may differ by length of gestation.^{15,27} For instance, infectious causes of fetal death are probably more important in the second trimester,^{27,33} while uteroplacental insufficiency plays a greater role in fetal deaths at term.⁵³ Fetal death rates have also been shown to vary according to length of gestation, described as moderate at 20-22 weeks of gestation and lowest at 27-33 weeks, whereas the highest rates have been seen in term, and particularly in postterm pregnancies.^{54,55} In a Swedish study with data from 1987-1992, a significantly increased OR for fetal death was reported among offspring delivered at 41 weeks of gestation or above: OR 1.48 (95% CI 1.13-1.95), 1.77 (95% CI 1.22-2.56) and 2.90 (95% CI 1.27-6.61) at 41, 42 and 43 weeks of gestation, respectively, compared to gestational week 40.⁵⁶ The increased risk of fetal death in postterm pregnancies has mainly been attributed to uteroplacental insufficiency and umbilical cord compression due to oligohydramnios.⁵⁶ Increased knowledge about gestational age-specific risk factors for fetal death is needed in order to understand the mechanisms of, and to prevent fetal death.

Advanced maternal age. Older mothers have a higher prevalence of hypertension and diabetes, as well as several other factors related to fetal death, such as multiple pregnancy (referred to as multiple gestation in Table I), premature delivery, chromosomal abnormalities and different placental complications.⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹ However, despite the higher prevalence of these factors among older mothers, large studies have suggested that advanced maternal age is an independent risk factor for fetal death. In the review by Fretts et al, the OR for fetal death in women aged 40 years or older was estimated to be 1.8-3.3, compared to women younger than 35 years (Table 1).¹⁹ In another systematic review, including 31 cohort or case-control studies, older mothers, mainly defined as mothers aged 35 years or older, had a RR for fetal death of 1.20-4.53.⁶⁰ The mechanisms behind this increased risk are largely unknown.

In this thesis, we aimed to study the risk factors for, and the mechanisms behind the increased risk of fetal death in women with high age at childbirth.

1.2 Fetal death: high maternal age at childbirth

1.2.1 Maternal age at childbirth: changing trends and consequences for pregnancy outcome

It has become increasingly common to postpone childbirth until late in reproductive life. Thus, in the Western world, maternal age at delivery is increasing.⁶¹⁻⁶³ In particular, the age of first-time mothers has increased. In some European countries, such as Italy and Greece, mean maternal age at first delivery has exceeded 30 years.⁶⁴ The corresponding ages in 1980 were 25.1 and 23.3 years, respectively (Figure 6).⁶⁴



Figure 6. Maternal age at first delivery by country in 1980 and 2010. Adapted from the Statistical Database of United Nations Economic Commission of Europe: www.unece.org.

Hence, second and higher-order deliveries are also being postponed. In 2011 in Europe, Liechtenstein and Ireland had the highest mean maternal age at delivery, irrespective of parity, at 31.5 years (Figure 7).⁶⁵



Figure 7. Mean maternal age at delivery in Europe in 2011. Exceptions Italy, Montenegro, Malta, Croatia, the United Kingdom, France and Turkey (data from 2010), and Belgium (data from 2009). Adapted from Eurostat: http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu.

In Norway, mean maternal age at first delivery was 27.7 years, whereas mean maternal age among all women, irrespective of parity, was 29.8 years in 2011 (Figure 8).¹⁰ A total of 19.7% of the women were 35 years old or older at delivery.¹⁰ This is a considerable increase from 20 years earlier, when only 9.8% of women were 35 years old or older at delivery.¹⁰ The corresponding figures for women aged 40 years or older were 3.4% in 2011 and 1.3% in 1991 (Figure 9). The distribution of maternal age at delivery changed during the period 1967-2006 (Figure 10). The main change has been in the proportion of childbearing women aged 25 years or younger.



Figure 8. Mean maternal age at delivery in Norway during the period 1967-2011. Source: Medical Birth Registry of Norway, www.mfr.no.



Figure 9. Percentage of women aged 40 years or older at delivery during the period 1967-2011.

Source: Medical Birth Registry of Norway, www.mfr.no.



Figure 10. Distribution of maternal age according to period of delivery. The median is marked in red.

Source: Medical Birth Registry of Norway, www.mfr.no.

1.2.1.1 Possible reasons for postponement of childbirth

The reasons for delaying childbirth may vary.⁶⁶ Some women pursue education and career, some wish to explore other aspects of life before becoming a mother, and for others economic matters are of importance. In Norway, only women with paid work are eligible for paid maternity leave and receive the maximum welfare benefits linked to childbirth.⁶⁷ Women without paid work receive only limited economic support at childbirth.

Norwegian women are also postponing marriage. According to Statistics Norway, the mean age at first marriage was 31.1 years among women in 2011.⁶⁸ The corresponding figure for the period 1966-1970 was 22.8 years.⁶⁹ However, it is not certain that the increased age at first marriage is directly related to higher maternal age at delivery, as an increasing number of children are born out of wedlock.

The divorce rates in Norway are also increasing: 3.3 per 1000 marriages were dissolved each year during the period 1966-1970,⁷⁰ and 11.5 per 1000 of all marriages ended in divorce in 2011.⁷¹ After a divorce, many women may get pregnant with a new partner, and thus at an older age.

Contraception has provided women with the opportunity to make reproductive choices, and the methods of preventing pregnancy have improved. A wide range of effective contraceptives with few side-effects are available, and the use of contraceptives in Norway is high. This is reflected in high sales figures, particularly for hormonal contraceptives and intrauterine devices.⁷² Recently, access to contraceptives has also improved. Hormonal contraceptives are free of charge for females aged 16-19 years in Norway, and an expansion of this system to women aged 20-24 years is being discussed.⁷³ Reliable methods and improved access to contraceptives, but also induced abortions at the woman's request have made unwanted pregnancies and births preventable and family planning easier. However, the induced abortion rates have been relatively stable among young women since the legalisation of abortion in Norway in 1979, and therefore its influence on the postponement of childbirth is probably limited.⁷⁴

1.2.1.2 The consequences of postponing childbirth

There may be positive effects of becoming a mother at an older age: better economical solvency, a secure job situation, and possibly a more stable relationship between the mother and the father. There may also be psychological benefits of being an older mother. In addition, increasing maternal age has been associated with improved health and development of children up to five years of age.⁷⁵

However, there are negative consequences of high maternal age at reproduction which cannot be ignored. The age at which the mother is defined as old, and thus at a greater risk of pregnancy complications, is difficult to assess. There is no universal definition of advanced maternal age, since the effects of increasing age on pregnancy seem to occur gradually rather than occurring as a threshold effect.

First and foremost, it may be more difficult to become pregnant at an older age. At a certain age reproduction is no longer biologically possible for women. Studies have shown

that in populations where the use of contraceptives is prohibited, seven out of eight women ceases to reproduce and are presumably also unable to reproduce by the age of 45.⁷⁶ For a long time the assumption has been that a woman's reproductive life begins at menarche and ends at menopause. However, studies in sexually active women who do not use contraceptives have reported that a woman's last birth occurs on average 10 years before menopause.⁷⁷

Infertility has been shown to be a major problem among older women, and nearly 50% of all infertility treatment is administered to women aged 35 years or older. In Norway, more than 2000 children are born as a result of ART every year, and many of them are born to women in this age group. However, in many women, the ART treatment is not successful. During the period 2009-2010, a total of 2980 women aged 35 years or older received ART treatment. Only 530 of these women gave birth to an infant.⁷⁸ The higher prevalence of infertility among older women is probably caused by the decreased number and reduced quality of oocytes.⁷⁹ Uterine factors, such as decreased receptivity of the endometrium with age, have also been suggested.⁸⁰ If conception is successful in older women, the risk of miscarriage is increased, maybe as a consequence of abnormalities that occur in the oocytes with age.⁸¹

During pregnancy, the risk of developing diseases such as preeclampsia, pregnancy induced hypertension, and gestational diabetes is higher among older women.⁸² There is also a higher risk of placental disorders such as placental abruption and placenta praevia.⁸³ Older women have a higher risk of uterine rupture,⁸⁴ preterm birth⁸⁵ and of giving birth to an infant that is small for gestational age.⁸⁶ It has also been suggested that older women have a higher risk for breech delivery⁸⁷ and for prolonged labour.⁸⁸ The increased risk of fetal⁶⁰ and also perinatal death⁸⁹ in older mothers is well-known. In some studies, anal sphincter tears have been associated with maternal age,⁹⁰ and caesarean section rates among older women are high.^{82,91} Congenital anomalies⁹² and chromosomal abnormalities, such as Down syndrome and trisomy 13 and 18, occur more frequently among older mothers.^{93,94} The prevalence of Down syndrome increases from approximately 0.6 per 1000 births among women aged 20 years, to 10 per 1000 births in women 40 years of age.⁹⁵

After delivery, older women are at increased risk of postpartum haemorrhage,⁹⁶ and they also have an increased risk of long-term pelvic floor disorders like urinary incontinence

32

and pelvic organ prolapse.⁹⁷ In addition, advanced maternal age at first delivery increases the risk of developing breast cancer later in life.⁹⁸

Many of the complications associated with high maternal age are caused by age-related diseases such as leiomyomas, type-II diabetes mellitus, chronic hypertension and multiparity.⁵⁹ Older women also have a higher cumulative risk of being treated by cervical conisation for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) which increases the risk of preterm birth.⁹⁹ The reasons behind the higher risk of pregnancy complications among older women without age-related diseases are largely unknown.

1.2.2 Maternal age and gestational age-specific fetal death

Low uteroplacental perfusion due to poor uterine vasculature, and related difficulties in adapting to the increased haemodynamic demands of pregnancy, has been suggested as a possible explanation for the increased risk of fetal death in older women.⁸⁹ As pregnancy progresses, the fetus has an increasing demand for oxygen and nutrition.¹⁰⁰ If low uteroplacental perfusion, and thus reduced placental function, is an important cause of fetal death in older women, it is conceivable that the risk of fetal death increases by increasing length of gestation, thereby leaving older women at a particularly high risk of fetal death in term and postterm pregnancies. However, this has not been thoroughly studied and needs to be explored.

1.3 Fetal death: the placenta

1.3.1 Placental function

The placenta is essential in supplying the fetus with oxygen and nutrition.¹⁰¹ It removes toxic waste and carbon dioxide from fetal blood before returning it to the maternal circulation. The placenta also has an endocrine function, producing hormones such as progesterone, oestrogen, human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), human placental lactogen (hPL), and human chorionic thyreotropin (hCT). In addition, the placenta functions as an immunological barrier between the mother and the fetus. Hence, a well-functioning placenta is required for optimal fetal growth and development.

1.3.2 Placental development

To gain a better understanding of placental function, knowledge of placental development is a necessity. Within four days after fertilisation, the embryo has differentiated into two cell types: embryoblast, which develops into the fetus, and trophoblast, which develops into the placenta and external membranes.^{101,102} The trophoblast represents the outer layer of the blastocyst, and differentiates into the underlying cytotrophoblast and the overlying syncytiotrophoblast.

The implantation of the blastocyst into the endometrium normally begins seven days after fertilisation.^{101,102} At the implantation site, the maternal endometrium changes and forms the *decidua basalis* (the maternal placenta). After the implantation of the blastocyst, intercommunicating spaces (lacunes) appear within the syncytiotrophoblast layer, and these are filled with maternal blood. Implantation is an important step in placental development and is probably also essential for subsequent placental function.

The cytotrophoblast and the syncytiotrophoblast form, together with amnion and extraembryonic mesenchyma, the chorionic plate.^{101,102} Chorionic villi emerge from the chorionic plate and are filled with embryonic blood. The lacunes expand and form intervillous spaces. In the beginning, the *chorion villosum* surrounds the whole embryo. Then, the chorionic villi farthest away from the maternal blood supply degenerate and form the *chorion laeve*, whereas the chorionic villi closest to the maternal blood supply expand to form the *chorion frondosum* (the fetal placenta). Spiral arteries transport maternal blood from the *decidua basalis* into the intervillous space, where oxygen and nutrition are transferred into the villous tree and thereby to the fetal circulation through diffusion, pinocytosis, or by active transport.

The vein in the umbilical cord (*V. umbilicalis*) transports oxygenated blood from the placenta to the fetus, and two arteries (*Aa. umbilicales*) lead the deoxygenated and nutrient-poor blood back from the fetus to the placenta (Figure 11).^{101,102}

Development and growth of the placental villous structure are regulated by growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), placental growth factor (PLGF) and angiopoietins.¹⁰³ Successful implantation and

placentation require coordinated, finely regulated vascular development.¹⁰⁴ hCG has a role in modulating the endometrial production of cytokines and growth factors, and has therefore been suggested to be the conductor of placental development.¹⁰⁴



Figure 11. The placental blood circulation.

Adapted and processed from: www.studyblue.com/notes/note/n/gallicano/deck/1056160.

1.3.3 Uteroplacental insufficiency and fetal death

Uteroplacental insufficiency is a failure in the exchange of gases and nutrients between the mother and the fetus, and is divided into acute and chronic insufficiency.¹⁰¹ Acute uteroplacental insufficiency is revealed in minutes or hours. It is caused by a sudden reduction in blood flow, for instance due to a severe placental infarction.³⁰ If the acute situation is not resolved, fetal death by hypoxia may occur.

Chronic uteroplacental insufficiency may be caused by maternal conditions, such as diabetes, chronic hypertension, thrombophilia, severe anaemia, multiparity, short interpregnancy interval, smoking, or drug abuse.¹⁰¹ Chronic uteroplacental insufficiency

may lead to oligohydramnios, intrauterine growth restriction, and eventually fetal death.¹⁰¹

Uteroplacental insufficiency in general increases the risk of caesarean section and preterm delivery. Reduced fetal oxygenation is also a risk factor for the development of cerebral palsy and learning disabilities.¹⁰⁵

1.3.4 Indicators of placental function

Placental function may be assessed in antenatal care by ultrasonographic examination, and Doppler assessment of the placental circulation plays an important role in screening for impaired placentation.¹⁰⁶ An increased uterine artery pulsatility index (PI), or the presence of early diastolic notching are parameters being used for the identification of pregnancies with placental insufficiency particularly in the second trimester of pregnancy.^{107,108} Ultrasonographic examination can also be used to detect placental and umbilical cord abnormalities, such as abnormal placental shapes, abnormal placental textures, marginal or velamentous umbilical cord insertions, or two-vessel cords.¹⁰⁸ In addition, ultrasonographic diagnosis of intrauterine growth restriction may be a strong indicator of placental insufficiency.¹⁰⁸

In epidemiological studies, birthweight has been suggested as a proximate measure of the intrauterine environment, and placental weight is closely correlated with birthweight.¹⁰⁹ Placental weight and other gross placental measures, such as placental disc shape, distance from cord insertion to closest placental margin, large or small diameter of the placenta, placental disc thickness and umbilical cord length, have been reported to be indicators of placental function.¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹¹ Placental weight is a summary of gross placental measures and one of the most important predictors of birthweight, and thus placental function.^{109,110}

It has been suggested that small placental size, rather than the alteration of nutrient metabolism or placental transfer capacity, is the major limitation of fetal growth.¹¹² Upon histological examination, a small placenta may show increased intervillous volume, decreased villous parenchymal volume, smaller terminal villi and sparser villous numbers.¹¹⁰ The low amount of functional tissue generally results in a small area for exchange of oxygen and nutrition between mother and fetus. Thus, small placentas are assumed to be dysfunctional.^{110,111}
Placental weight in relation to birthweight (placental weight/birthweight ratio) decreases throughout pregnancy.¹¹³ It is conceivable that the metabolism of glucose and oxygen in the placenta is higher in mid-pregnancy than at term, and that nutrient and glucose transport from the placenta to the fetus increases according to length of gestation to allow for fetal growth.¹¹⁴ The placental weight/birthweight ratio has also been suggested as a marker of placental function and has been used as a proximate measure of placental nutrient transport efficiency.^{115,116} If the placenta is small relative to birthweight, it may be classified as dysfunctional. However, it has also been suggested that small placentas relative to birthweight are more efficient, because of the grams of fetus produced per gram of placenta.¹¹⁶ The function of a placental weight/birthweight ratios have been associated with an increased risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes,¹¹⁷ admission of the infant to the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU),^{117,118} Apgar score below 7 at five minutes after birth,^{118,119} and long-term adverse health outcomes.^{120,121}

Placental function is difficult to measure at a population level, but is likely to be associated with placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio. Knowledge of the association of placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio with fetal death is scarce and may be important in understanding the role of placental function in fetal death.

1.3.5 Maternal age and placental function

It is likely that placental dysfunction is an important cause of fetal death.²² Advanced maternal age is associated with an increased risk of fetal death,⁶⁰ and with lower uteroplacental perfusion, which may be associated with reduced placental function and thereby a reduced supply of oxygen and nutrition to the fetus.⁸⁹ Based on these findings, it is conceivable that older women have a reduced placental function compared to younger women. Thus, placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio, as indicators of placental function, may vary with maternal age.

Knowledge of the association of placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio with maternal age could be an important piece in the puzzle when it comes to understanding the increased risk of fetal death in older women.

2 Background and objectives of the thesis

Maternal age at delivery is rising, and the total number of women at increased risk of fetal death is increasing accordingly.⁶¹⁻⁶³ In order to prevent fetal death, more knowledge about the associated risk factors is needed. In addition, studies of women at advanced age at childbirth may provide insight into the causes of fetal death in general.

It is well known that the risk of fetal death increases with maternal age.⁶⁰ It has also been shown that the risk of fetal death varies considerably according to length of gestation, and is particularly high in term and postterm pregnancies.^{54,55} The relationship between adverse pregnancy outcome and maternal age is not sufficiently understood, and may vary by length of gestation. In particular, if the fetal demand for oxygen and nutrition increases with increasing length of gestation, and if a relative placental dysfunction is more common in older mothers, it is conceivable that the risk of fetal death in older mothers is particularly high in term and postterm pregnancies. We therefore studied whether the association of fetal death and maternal age differed by length of gestation. We also studied whether the gestational age-specific risk of fetal death by maternal age has changed during the period 1967-2006.

Placental function is essential for fetal growth and well-being, and placental dysfunction is most likely an important cause of fetal death.²² Low placental weight is strongly associated with intrauterine growth restriction.¹²² Intrauterine growth restriction is often presented in the third trimester, and is closely associated with fetal death.^{45,123} To explore the role of the placenta in fetal death, we studied whether placental weight and placental weight relative to birthweight were associated with fetal death. We also studied whether the associations of placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio with fetal death differed between preterm and term pregnancies.

Impaired placental function is probably an important cause of fetal death,²² and such impairment may be more common in older mothers. Placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio have been suggested as indicators of placental function.^{109-111,115} It is therefore possible that placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio differ by maternal age. We hypothesised that the association of gestational age-specific fetal death

with maternal age could be mediated by impaired placental function, and studied whether maternal age was associated with placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio. A model of our hypothesis is presented in Figure 12.



Figure 12. A model of our hypothesis.

3 Study objectives

- To study
 - i) whether the risk of fetal death according to maternal age varies at different lengths of gestation (Paper I).
 - changes in the gestational age-specific risk of fetal death according to maternal age during the period 1967-2006 (Paper I).
- To study the association of placental weight, birthweight and placental weight/birthweight ratio with gestational-age specific fetal death (Paper II).
- To study the association of maternal age with placental weight, birthweight and placental weight/birthweight ratio (Paper III).

4 Materials and methods

4.1 The Medical Birth Registry of Norway

Data for Papers I-III were obtained from the Medical Birth Registry of Norway.¹²⁴ The Medical Birth Registry was established in 1967, in the wake of the thalidomide disaster in the early 1960s, for the surveillance of birth defects. The registry contains information on all births in Norway after 16 completed weeks of gestation since 1967, and after 12 completed weeks of gestation since December 1998. The notification to the Medical Birth Registry is compulsory and is made by the midwife or attending physician shortly after delivery. All records of live-born offspring are matched with those of the Central Person Registry to ensure medical notification of every live-born offspring in the country. The notification forms did not change from the establishment of the Medical Birth Registry until December 1998. However, in December 1998, a new form with pre-coded answer alternatives was introduced. In this form, additional information such as the date of term based on ultrasonographic examination, placental weight and smoking habits are registered. The notification forms are attached in the appendix.

4.1.1 Paper I – Aim, design, study population, variables and statistical analyses

4.1.1.1 Aim

We studied whether the risk of fetal death according to maternal age varies at different lengths of gestation. We also studied changes in the gestational age-specific risk of fetal death according to maternal age during the period 1967-2006.

4.1.1.2 Design

We defined this study as a population-based retrospective cohort study.

4.1.1.3 Study population

Our study population included all women giving birth after 16 completed weeks of gestation

in Norway during the period 1967-2006 (n = 2 337 392). We excluded 28 595 pregnancies with a length of gestation above 43 weeks, since a proportion of these were miscoded, and this proportion could not be determined with certainty. Information on length of gestation was missing for 125 997 births, and of these remaining, an additional 44 births lacked information on potentially confounding factors. Hence, a total of 2 182 756 births were included in Paper I (Figure 13).



Figure 13. Study sample in Paper I.

4.1.1.4 Main outcome variables

Vital status at birth. Vital status at birth was categorised as fetal death: yes or no.

4.1.1.5 Main explanatory variable

Maternal age. Maternal age was defined as age in years at delivery. It was categorised as <20, 20-24, 25-29, 30-34, 35-39, 40-44, or ≥ 45 years.

4.1.1.6 Other study factors

Year of delivery. The risk of fetal death and also maternal age at the time of delivery has changed over time, and therefore we adjusted for year of delivery.¹¹ Year of delivery was categorised as 1967-1971, 1972-1976, 1977-1981, 1982-1986, 1987-1991, 1992-1996, 1997-2001, or 2002-2006.

Parity. Parity is positively associated with maternal age⁵⁵ and has also shown a U-shaped association with fetal death.^{19,44,45} Parity was defined as previous births after 16 completed weeks of gestation, and was categorised as 0, 1, 2, 3, or \geq 4 births.

Plurality. Plurality (multiple pregnancy) increases the risk of fetal death,¹⁹ and is more frequent in older than in younger women.^{125,126} It was defined as the number of fetuses *in utero*, and was categorised as 1 or \geq 2 offspring.

Paternal age. Advanced paternal age is associated with an increased risk of fetal death,^{48,49} and is also correlated with maternal age. It was defined as paternal age in years at delivery, and was categorised as <30, 30-39, ≥40 years, or missing.

Preeclampsia. Preeclampsia is associated with a higher risk of fetal death.¹⁶ Although preeclampsia is generally described as a disease that occurs during a first pregnancy,¹⁶ it also seems to occur more often in older mothers.^{82,127,128} Preeclampsia was defined as blood pressure \geq 140/90 mmHg and proteinuria with dipstick \geq 1 after 20 weeks of gestation, and was categorised as preeclampsia: yes or no.

An overview of the variables used in Papers I-III is presented in Table 2.

Table 2.	Variables	used in	Papers	I-III.
----------	-----------	---------	--------	--------

	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III
Main outcome variables	Vital status at birth	Vital status at birth	Placental weight
			Birthweight
			Placental weight/ birthweigt ratio
Main explanatory variables	Maternal age	Placental weight	Maternal age
		Birthweight	
		Placental weight/ birthweigt ratio	
Other	Year of delivery	Maternal age	Birthweight*
factors	Parity	Preeclampsia	Parity
	Plurality	Diabetes	Smoking
	Paternal age	Smoking	Preeclampsia
	Preeclampsia	Parity	Diabetes
		ART	

* In analyses with placental weight as the main outcome variable.

4.1.1.7 Statistical analyses

We calculated the absolute risk of fetal death for each gestational week after 16 completed weeks of gestation (number of fetal deaths per 100 ongoing pregnancies) according to maternal age, and used all women with a fetus still *in utero* at the length of gestation studied as the denominator. The numerator was women with fetal death at that same length of gestation. Additionally, Cox regression models were applied to estimate crude and adjusted RRs of fetal death according to maternal age. The analyses were performed separately for the following lengths of gestation: 16-22, 23-29, 30-36, and 37 weeks of gestation or above. Pregnancies lasting 38 weeks or longer were also subdivided into groups of two-week intervals: 38-39, 40-41 and 42-43 weeks of gestation. Time (days) to

fetal death was the main outcome variable in the Cox regression models. Births of live infants, or live fetuses still *in utero* at the end of the gestational length interval studied were treated as censored observations. Women aged 20-24 years were used as the reference group, as women in this age group were assumed to have the lowest risk of fetal death. We adjusted for potential confounding factors (Table 2). For term and postterm pregnancies, the association of fetal death with maternal age was estimated for two time periods: 1967-1986 and 1987-2006.

4.1.2 Paper II – Aim, design, study population, variables and statistical analyses

4.1.2.1 Aim

We studied the association of placental weight, birthweight and placental weight/birthweight ratio with gestational-age specific fetal death.

4.1.2.2 Design

This study was a population-based cross-sectional study.

4.1.2.3 Study population

Of all singleton deliveries during the period 1999-2008 ($n = 567\ 176$), we excluded 28 812 births with missing information on length of gestation, placental weight or birthweight. We excluded 2943 births with a recorded gestational length of less than 23 weeks or 43 weeks or above. Of the remaining births eligible for study, we excluded 529 births with outlying values of placental weight and birthweight. Thus, a total of 534 892 births were included in this study (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Study sample in Paper II.

4.1.2.4 Main outcome variable

Vital status at birth. Vital status at birth was categorised as fetal death: yes or no.

4.1.2.5 Main explanatory variables

Placental weight. Placental weight was reported in grams, and the placentas were measured fresh, with membranes and umbilical cord attached within one hour of delivery. Placental weights were divided into gestational age-specific quartiles (four equal groups if normally distributed). The lowest quartile represented the 25% smallest placentas and the highest quartile the 25% largest placentas.

Birthweight. Birthweight was reported in grams and divided into quartiles as described above.

Placental weight/birthweight ratio. Placental weight/birthweight ratios were created by dividing placental weight by birthweight in grams. A high placental weight/birthweight ratio represented a large placenta relative to birthweight. The placental weight/birthweight ratios were also divided into gestational age-specific quartiles.

4.1.2.6 Other study factors

Maternal age. Maternal age is associated with increased placental weight (Paper III) and also with an increased risk of fetal death.^{19,60} Maternal age was therefore included as a confounder in this study, and was categorised as <20, 20-24, 25-29, 30-34, 35-39, 40-44, or \geq 45 years.

Preeclampsia. Preeclampsia is associated with both small and large placentas.^{122,129} An enlargement of the placenta has been reported to be present particularly in preeclamptic pregnancies with offspring large for gestational age.¹²⁹ Preeclampsia was defined as described for Paper I.

Diabetes. Diabetes is associated with increased placental weight, birthweight and placental weight/birthweight ratio.¹³⁰ Diabetes is also associated with a higher risk of fetal death.¹³¹⁻¹³³ Diabetes included type-I or type-II diabetes mellitus, gestational diabetes, or use of anti-diabetic medication during pregnancy.

Smoking. Smoking is associated with increased placental weight/birthweight ratio¹³⁴ and a higher risk of fetal death.¹³⁵ Information on smoking was registered at the first antenatal care visit and women who reported occasional or daily smoking were defined as smokers.

Parity. Parity is associated with increased birthweight and placental weight^{109,136} and also with increased risk of fetal death as described above. Parity was categorised as 0 or ≥ 1 previous births after 16 completed weeks of gestation.

ART. ART pregnancies are associated with increased placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio.¹³⁷ However, offspring birthweight in pregnancies conceived by ART is lower compared to spontaneously conceived pregnancies.¹³⁷ ART pregnancies are associated with increased risk of fetal death.⁵² ART was categorised as ART: yes or no.

4.1.2.7 Statistical analyses

We calculated the means of placental weight, birthweight and placental weight/birthweight ratio for each two-week interval of gestational length according to vital status at delivery. In term deliveries (\geq 37 weeks of gestation), we also calculated the mean placental weight/birthweight ratio in 500-gram categories of birthweight to study the consistency of our findings. Placental weight, birthweight and placental weight/birthweight ratio were divided into gestational age-specific quartiles, and the proportions of live births and fetal deaths in the lowest and the highest quartile were calculated for each two-week interval of gestational length. In a logistic regression model, the OR for fetal death according to placental weight/birth weight ratio in quartiles was estimated, and adjustments were made for factors associated with placental weight/birthweight ratio and fetal death. The second and the third quartiles were combined and used as the reference group.

4.1.3 Paper III – Aim, design, study population, variables and statistical analyses

4.1.3.1 Aim

We studied the association of maternal age with placental weight, birthweight and placental weight/birthweight ratio.

4.1.3.2 Design

This study was a population-based cross-sectional study.

4.1.3.3 Study population

Of all births in Norway during the period 1999-2008 (n = 588 710), we excluded 25 501 births with missing information on placental weight. Maternal age was not registered for 60 women, and information on length of gestation and birthweight was not available for 3848 and 782 births, respectively. Of the remaining births eligible for study, we excluded 21 565 multiple pregnancies, births with missing information on offspring sex, births with a recorded length of gestation less than 22 weeks, and births with outlying values on length of gestation, placental weight or birthweight. In total, 536 954 births were included in this

study (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Study sample in Paper III.

4.1.3.4 Main outcome variables

Placental weight. Placental weight was reported in grams. We also calculated placental weight z-scores based on the means and standard deviations of placental weight. A z-score is defined as the actual value minus the mean value, divided by the standard deviation.¹³⁸ A z-score of 0 means that the actual placental weight is equal to the mean placental weight. A z-score can be positive or negative, indicating whether it is above or below the mean, and by how many standard deviations. The z-scores used in our study were gestational age- and sex-specific.¹¹³ Placental weight z-scores are thus placental weight percentiles, adjusted for

length of gestation and offspring sex.

Birthweight. Birthweight was measured in grams. Z-scores were calculated, as birthweight also depends on length of gestation and offspring sex.^{113,139}

Placental weight/birthweight ratio. Placental weight/birthweight ratios were estimated as described for Paper II.

4.1.3.5 Main explanatory variable

Maternal age. Maternal age was categorised in five-year intervals as described for Paper II.

4.1.3.6 Other study factors

Birthweight. In our analyses of the association of placental weight with maternal age, we adjusted for birthweight, as birthweight is correlated with placental weight¹⁰⁹ and maternal age.¹⁴⁰ Maternal age is positively correlated with both macrosomic and low birthweight infants. Birthweight was divided into 100-gram categories.

Parity, smoking, preeclampsia and *diabetes*. All these variables were categorised as described for Paper II.

4.1.3.7 Statistical analyses

Means of placental weight, birthweight and placental weight/birthweight ratio were calculated according to maternal age group. We also estimated the Pearson's correlation coefficient between placental weight and birthweight for each maternal age group. Placental weight and birthweight z-scores were created as described above. The reason for using z-scores rather than crude weight in grams was that placental weight and birthweight vary according to length of gestation and offspring sex,^{113,139} and length of gestation also seems to vary with maternal age.⁸⁵ The z-scores of placental weight were divided into deciles (ten equal groups if normally distributed), where the lowest decile represented the 10% smallest and the highest decile represented the 10% largest placentas. Also, the z-

scores of birthweight and the placental weight/birthweight ratios in grams were divided into deciles. We estimated the distribution of each decile of placental weight z-score, birthweight z-score and placental weight/birthweight ratio in each maternal age group. Lastly, we estimated crude and adjusted ORs for having a small (lowest decile) or a large (highest decile) placenta according to maternal age. Women below the age of 20 years were used as the reference group in the multivariable model, as we believed that the linear trend of the association of placental weight with maternal age was best presented in this way.

4.2 Ethical aspects

Papers I-III

The Advisory Committee of the Medical Birth Registry of Norway and the Norwegian Data Inspectorate approved our studies. Personally identifiable information was not used in any of the studies.

5 Synopsis of the presented studies

Paper I: The impact of maternal age on fetal death: does length of gestation matter?

Objective: To study the association of fetal death with maternal age by length of gestation. **Methods:** In this population-based study, information on pregnancy outcome was obtained from the Medical Birth Registry of Norway. We studied all ongoing pregnancies after 16 completed weeks of gestation during the period 1967-2006 ($n = 2 \ 182 \ 756$). **Results:** The risk of fetal death was 1.4 times higher in women aged 40-44 years than in women aged 20-24 years in mid-pregnancy, but was 2.8 times higher at term. In term

pregnancies, the relative importance of maternal age increased with additional weeks of pregnancy. In gestational weeks 42-43, the crude risk was 5.1 times higher in mothers aged 40 years or older. During the period 1987-2006, the elevated risk of fetal death in older mothers at term was attenuated.

Conclusion: Women aged 40 years or older had the highest risk of fetal death throughout pregnancy, and particularly in term and postterm pregnancies. Improved obstetric care may explain the attenuated risk associated with maternal age in recent years.

Paper II: Fetal death and placental weight/birthweight ratio: a population study.

Objective: To study the association of placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio with gestational age-specific fetal death.

Methods: In this population-based study of all singleton births in Norway during the period 1999-2008 (n = 534 892), we estimated gestational age-specific quartiles of placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio, and compared the proportions of fetal deaths and live births in the lowest and highest quartiles. The risk of fetal death associated with placental weight/birthweight ratio was estimated as crude and adjusted ORs.

Results: Pregnancies with fetal death were overrepresented in the lowest quartile of placental weight and placental weight/birthweight ratio in term and preterm deliveries. In

preterm deliveries, fetal deaths were also overrepresented in the highest placental weight/birthweight ratio. The adjusted OR for fetal death in preterm deliveries was 1.67 (95% CI 1.44-1.94) for placental weight/birthweight ratio in the lowest quartile, and 1.79 (95% CI 1.55-2.08) in the highest quartile. Corresponding ORs for term deliveries were 1.76 (95% CI 1.50-2.06) and 1.18 (95% CI 0.99-1.41).

Conclusion: Both small and large placentas relative to birthweight were associated with fetal death in preterm births. At term, only small placentas were associated with fetal death. Understanding the mechanisms behind the increased risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in pregnancies with disproportionate placental weight/birthweight ratio may be important for prevention of fetal deaths.

Paper III: The association of maternal age with placental weight: a population-based study of 536 954 pregnancies.

Objective: To study the association of maternal age with placental weight, birthweight and placental weight/birthweight ratio.

Methods: In this population-based study of all singleton births in Norway during the period 1999-2008 ($n = 536\ 954$), we calculated z-scores of placental weight and birthweight and divided them into deciles. The proportions of births with a small or a large placenta were calculated within each maternal age group. Also the ORs of having a small (lowest decile) or a large (highest decile) placenta according to maternal age were estimated, with and without adjustment for birthweight in grams, parity, smoking, preeclampsia and diabetes.

Results: The mean placental weight increased with maternal age, and was 647.1 grams in women below the age of 20 years, and 691.3 grams in women aged 45 years or older. Among the oldest group of women (\geq 45 years), 15.8% of the placentas were in the highest decile of placental weight z-score, whereas this was true for just 7.0% of the women below the age of 20 years (p <0.001, Wald test). Using women younger than 20 years of age as the reference group, the OR for having a placenta in the highest decile of placental weight z-score was 2.50 (95% CI 1.92-3.26) for women aged 45 years or older after adjustment for offspring birthweight, parity, maternal smoking, preeclampsia and diabetes.

Conclusion: We found an association between increased placental weight and maternal age, and this finding may be important in understanding the causes of adverse events associated with high maternal age.

6 General discussion

6.1 Main results

6.1.1 Paper I

Fetal death occurred in 1.04% of all births after 16 completed weeks of gestation during the period 1967-2006. Women aged 40 years or older had the highest absolute risk of fetal death at all lengths of gestation, but the increased risk was most pronounced in gestational weeks 16-22 and at term. In term pregnancies, the relative importance of maternal age increased with additional weeks of pregnancy. In the more recent study period (1987-2006), the increased risk of fetal death at term and postterm was attenuated.

6.1.2 Paper II

Independent of length of gestation at delivery, placental weight was lower in pregnancies with fetal death compared to pregnancies with live-born offspring. In both preterm and term deliveries, small placentas relative to birthweight were associated with fetal death. However, in preterm deliveries, also large placentas relative to birthweight were associated with fetal death.

6.1.3 Paper III

Mean placental weight and also placental weight relative to birthweight increased by maternal age.

6.2 Methodological considerations

6.2.1 Strengths and limitations of the studies

The Medical Birth Registry of Norway includes information on all births in Norway with close to 100% completeness. We have thus been provided with high quality population-based data, which allow for the generalisability of the findings. A major advantage of our

studies is the large sample size. This size generally assures tight CIs and minimises the likelihood of type-II error. The large sample size also makes it possible to study rare events such as fetal death.

There are some limitations of our studies. For studying differences between some subgroups of women, the statistical power may be limited. As an example, only a few women aged 40 years or older experienced fetal death in postterm pregnancies, and therefore the CIs around the risk estimates in these analyses were wide. Other limitations of the studies are presented and discussed in each paper, but will also be systematically discussed below.

Bias refers to systematic errors resulting in incorrect estimations of the association between an exposure and an outcome. Bias can be classified into three categories: selection bias, information bias and confounding.

6.2.2 Selection bias

Selection bias occurs when the association between the exposure and the outcome differs between participants and non-participants in the source population, that is if the study sample is not representative of the study population.¹⁴¹ We included all births in Norway during the study period. It is therefore unlikely that we have a skewed selection of study participants in any of our studies, and selection bias affecting the internal validity can be widely excluded. The possible altered selection to pregnancy and delivery over time, and resultant changes in the composition of women who give birth, are discussed in the interpretation of the results (6.3.1).

Selection bias affecting the external validity of our studies may be discussed. The results that we obtained in a Norwegian setting may not be valid in other countries with different genetic and demographic compositions, different causes of fetal death, or with different obstetric care practices.

Skewed selection of the study sample primarily affects prevalence estimates.¹⁴¹ Our aims were mainly to study the associations between exposure and outcome. Under certain circumstances, estimates of associations are also affected, in the sense that the association

is reversed, for example becomes positive rather than negative. We have no reason to believe that a skewed selection of our study samples has biased the direction of our estimates.

6.2.3 Information bias

Information bias occurs when the collected information is erroneous.¹⁴¹ Although the validity of many of the variables reported to the Medical Birth Registry may be uncertain,¹⁴² several studies have been performed to validate different diagnoses, and have confirmed that the information in the registry is of generally good quality.¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁶ For instance, the diagnosis of unexplained antepartum fetal death was validated against data obtained from hospital records and from autopsy data.¹⁴⁵ In this validity study, singletons with a gestational length of 28 weeks or above, or with a birthweight of 1000 grams or above, that were delivered at Haukeland Hospital in Bergen or at Aker Hospital in Oslo, were included. The reported specificity was 88-93%, and the sensitivity was 76-78%, therefore the authors concluded that the variable was sufficiently valid for use in epidemiological studies.

Information bias may also be defined as systematic differences in the way data on exposure or outcome are obtained. It can be divided into differential and non-differential misclassification.¹⁴¹ Non-differential misclassification is not related to other variables, while differential misclassification changes according to the values of other study variables.¹⁴¹ Hence, if differential misclassification is present, the erroneous values of the exposure may be linked to the outcome, leading to an erroneous direction of the estimated association. In this thesis, I will only emphasise possible differential misclassifications. If the misclassification is non-differential, our results have not been affected.

6.2.3.1 Differential misclassification

Paper I. There could be a possible differential misclassification of induced abortions as fetal deaths during the period 1986-December 1998. Our estimates of a higher risk of fetal death in gestational weeks 16-22 may have been biased if the prevalence of erroneously registered fetal deaths differed by maternal age. There were probably few induced abortions after 16 completed weeks of gestation before the introduction of routine

ultrasonographic screening in 1986, since a large percentage of these induced abortions are due to malformations,¹⁴⁷ and malformations are discovered by ultrasonographic examinations. Since December 1998, all induced abortions have been registered separately and were excluded from our analyses. Since older women are probably overrepresented among those having induced abortions due to anomalies, this bias would affect older women in particular. If induced abortions have been misclassified as fetal deaths, the increased risk of fetal death in gestational weeks 16-22 among older women during the period 1967-2006 could be overestimated.

The reporting of all live births and fetal deaths to the Medical Birth Registry is compulsory by law. However, the reporting of fetal deaths at 16-22 weeks of gestation is probably less established than that of fetal deaths at higher lengths of gestation. Therefore, we cannot exclude the possibility that early fetal deaths have been underreported. Live births reported to the Medical Birth Registry are matched with births registered in the Central Person Registry to ensure completeness of registration. However, there is no such system to ensure the completeness of registration of fetal deaths. Thus, underreporting of fetal deaths in general may occur. We have no reason to believe that a possible underreporting of fetal deaths is differential according to maternal age. However, in such a scenario, our results may have been biased.

Misclassification of the date of term could also have biased the results presented in Paper I. Date of term was based on the first day of the last menstrual period until December 1998. After December 1998, the Medical Birth Registry also started to record the date of term based on routine ultrasonographic screening performed at 17-19 weeks of gestation. Term estimates before December 1998 may be more inaccurate, particularly in women with irregular menstrual cycles, or with uncertain date of the last menstrual period.¹⁴⁸ Length of gestation may have been overestimated for some women before the introduction of ultrasonographic screening.^{149,150} It is not known whether such misclassification is independent of maternal age. If the misclassification is non-differential according to maternal age, our results have not been biased.

A third issue could be the new notification form, which was introduced by the Medical Birth Registry in December 1998. The new form contains pre-coded answer alternatives, and could cause more frequent reporting of certain exposures or conditions, such as

preeclampsia or diabetes. Reporting of these variables is probably independent of maternal age, but this is not known for sure. If systematic differences did exist in the reporting of study variables according to maternal age, or according to vital status at birth, this may have resulted in over- or underestimations of the associations found in our studies.

Paper II. A misclassification of the main explanatory variables (placental weight, birthweight and placental weight/birthweight ratio) could have occurred if delayed cord clamping, which increases the blood volume in the newborn and decreases the blood volume in the placenta,¹⁵¹ took place in live births only. This may have caused lower placental weight/birthweight ratios in live births compared to pregnancies with fetal death. Hence, the low placental weight/birthweight ratio in pregnancies with fetal death may have been underestimated, and the association of a high ratio with fetal death may have been overestimated. Whether delayed cord clamping was a common procedure in Norwegian maternity wards during the study period is not known.

It is also not known whether fetal death influences the weight of the placenta, or the infant after delivery, and thus if the placental weight/birthweight ratio changes as a function of death. After fetal death, the placenta undergoes morphological changes with increasing syncytial knots, fibrosis of the villous stroma, thickening of the trophoblastic basement membrane and villous stromal oedema.¹⁵² These changes are probably related to the cessation of fetal blood flow. A marked reduction in maternal blood flow through the placenta¹⁵³ and a stagnation of maternal blood in the intervillous space after fetal death have also been observed.¹⁵² All these factors could potentially influence placental weight after fetal death, but birthweight may also change due to morphological changes that occur in the fetus after death. Fetal weight may increase as a consequence of tissue oedema,¹⁵⁴ or decrease because of atrophy and autolysis.¹⁵⁵ If the placental weight/birthweight ratio changes as a function of fetal death, our findings may be biased due to differential misclassification. If the placental weight/birthweight ratio increases while the fetus is dead *in utero*, our finding of a large placenta relative to birthweight in preterm fetal deaths may have been an overestimate, and our observation of a small placenta relative to birthweight in preterm and term fetal deaths may have been an underestimate. On the other hand, if the placental weight/birthweight ratio decreases as a function of death, the opposite may have been the case. However, it is unlikely that the U-shaped association of placental weight/birthweight ratio with fetal death in preterm deliveries can be explained by

morphological changes in the placenta or the fetus after death.

Paper III. Differential misclassification may have occurred if the weighing procedures of the placenta differed according to maternal age. Infants born to older mothers are more often delivered by caesarean section,^{82,91} and in a caesarean delivery the placenta is removed immediately. Conversely, after a vaginal birth, the delivery of the placenta is delayed, and the leakage of blood from the placenta during this delay may cause lower placental weight. This could cause an overestimate of large placentas among older women. However, our findings remained almost unchanged when analyses were conducted after exclusion of women with caesarean delivery.

6.2.4 Confounding

Confounding factors are variables that correlate with both the main outcome and the main explanatory variable, and thus confuse the effects if not accounted for in the data analyses.¹⁴¹ The potential confounding factors for each paper were chosen *a priori* on the basis of findings from previous studies. Even though we adjusted for factors associated with the main outcome and the main explanatory variable, insufficient control for confounders may remain. Potential bias caused by confounding has been discussed in each paper. Nevertheless, I would like to highlight a few factors that may have confounded our results.

Maternal disease. In Paper I, we were criticised for the choice of confounding factors, as the occurrence of several maternal conditions increases with age. We wanted to see if the risk of fetal death differed throughout pregnancy in different age groups, and also if the gestational age-specific risk of fetal death according to maternal age changed during the study period (1967-2006). In epidemiological studies, the rule of thumb is not to make adjustments for factors on the causal pathway. We considered diabetes and hypertension to be a part of the biological process of aging, and therefore did not adjust for these variables. The fact that we adjusted for preeclampsia can be debated, since preeclampsia can also be seen as a consequence of aging. However, preeclampsia is also more frequent in first-time mothers.¹⁶

BMI. The lack of information on BMI in the Medical Birth Registry is problematic since

BMI influences the risk of fetal death.^{19,156} BMI may also be associated with maternal age¹⁵⁷ and with placental weight.¹⁵⁸ In addition, the overall BMI in the population changes over time.¹⁵⁷ Thus, BMI could be a potential confounding factor in our studies.

In Papers I and II, we studied gestational age-specific fetal death. It is unlikely that BMI had a differential impact on fetal death according to length of gestation. Thus, BMI is probably not a source of confounding in these studies.

Our findings of large placentas in older mothers in Paper III may have been overestimated if high BMI is associated with high placental weight, and the oldest women have the highest BMI. However, population studies in Norway suggest that younger women have higher BMI compared to women aged 40 years or older.¹⁵⁷ It is therefore unlikely that BMI has confounded the results of this study.

Congenital anomalies and chromosomal abnormalities. Fetal malformations and karyotypic abnormalities are more common with advanced maternal age^{93, 94} and contribute to an increased risk of fetal death.³⁰ It is conceivable that the presence of anomalies varies by length of gestation at delivery. The higher prevalence of congenital anomalies and chromosomal abnormalities in offspring of older women could therefore explain the higher fetal death rate among older women in Paper I, but it is not likely to explain the steep increase in risk in older women in postterm pregnancies. In an American study, which is contextually similar to Paper I, births with congenital anomalies were excluded.¹⁵⁹ However, the exclusion of these births was criticised, as the quality of the registration of anomalies in American birth certificates is poor, and the possibility to detect and exclude anomalous births is therefore limited.¹⁶⁰ The validity of anomalies reported in the Medical Birth Registry of Norway is not known. Nevertheless, in additional data analyses, we excluded births with recorded anomalies from our study population, but no significant differences in the associations of gestational age-specific fetal death with maternal age were found.

Ethnicity. During the period 1967-2006, a demographic change took place in Norway, which led to the current overrepresentation of immigrants particularly among younger women giving birth. Non-Western immigrants account for approximately 50% of all deliveries in Oslo among women below the age of 25 years.¹⁶¹ Migrant women also have a

higher risk of fetal death.¹⁶² Therefore, the lack of adjustment for ethnicity could have caused an underestimation of the maternal age-related difference in the risk of fetal death. However, the gestational age-specific fetal death rates have probably not been affected.

Smoking. We adjusted for smoking in Papers II and III, but not in the Paper I, as data on smoking habits have only been recorded in the Medical Birth Registry since December 1998.

ART. We adjusted for ART in Paper II only. ART is associated with large placentas and with high placental weight/birthweight ratios, but these associations were unknown until 2012.¹³⁷

Socioeconomic status. Parental income, education and occupation are not reported to the Medical Birth Registry of Norway. The results of Papers I and II could be confounded if the association of socioeconomic status with maternal age differs according to length of gestation. We have no reason to believe that this is the case. Changes in the risk of fetal death across our study period could possibly have been confounded by changes in maternal socioeconomic status over time. This issue will be thoroughly discussed in the interpretation of the results (6.3.1).

Low socioeconomic status is associated with a high placental weight/birthweight ratio.⁵¹ Our findings of large placentas among older women in Paper III could be overestimated if low socioeconomic status is associated with high maternal age.

6.3 Interpretation of the results

6.3.1 The increased risk of fetal death in older mothers

In Paper I, we found that women with advanced age at childbearing had an increased risk of fetal death throughout pregnancy. The increased risk in older mothers was pronounced in gestational weeks 16-22, but was particularly high in term and postterm pregnancies.

• Why do older mothers have an increased risk of fetal death in gestational weeks 16-22?

One possible explanation for the increased risk of fetal death in gestational weeks 16-22 could be that older women have a higher cumulative risk of having received treatment with cervical cone excision compared to younger women. Cervical cone excision increases the risk of cervical insufficiency, which may lead to miscarriage or premature delivery.⁹⁹ Premature delivery can cause intrapartum fetal death as a consequence of fetal immaturity.³⁹

The fetal death rate in gestational weeks 16-22 has increased and now seems to exceed the fetal death rate at term.¹¹ Thus, increased knowledge of the causes of fetal deaths in gestational weeks 16-22 is important in our attempts to prevent fetal death. The excess risk in older mothers, as shown in our study, may be one contribution to the goal of increasing our knowledge in this area.

• Why do older mothers have a particularly high risk of fetal death in term and postterm pregnancies?

The causes of the particularly high risk of fetal death in term and postterm pregnancies of older mothers are not known. A lower uteroplacental perfusion, and thus reduced placental function by maternal age, has been suggested.⁸⁹ The importance of a well-functioning placenta may increase with length of gestation since the fetal demand for oxygen and nutrition increases during pregnancy.¹⁰⁰ If the placental function of older mothers is impaired, fetuses of older mothers may be particularly vulnerable in the last part of pregnancy.

The second aim of Paper I was to study changes in the risk of fetal death according to maternal age in term and postterm pregnancies from the period 1967-1986 to the period 1987-2006. The overall risk of fetal death decreased, and the decrease was particularly pronounced in pregnancies of older mothers.

• How can the reduction in the risk of fetal death in term pregnancies of older mothers from the period 1967-1986 to the period 1987-2006 be explained?

Antenatal and obstetric care. We believe that the introduction of new diagnostic technology has played an important role in reducing the risk of fetal death. Ultrasonographic examinations in pregnancy have enhanced the assessment of fetal growth, CTG has enabled the diagnosis of fetal distress, and a more consistent use of the partogram has improved the monitoring of labour progression. The identification of pregnancies with a high risk of fetal death has thereby improved over time. Of all fetal deaths in 1967, 19.2% occurred at 40 weeks of gestation or above. Corresponding figures for 1986 and 2006 were 12.4% and 8.3%, respectively (data not shown). These findings support our theory of timely intervention as the main explanation behind the reduced fetal death rates in recent years.

Ultrasonographic examinations in pregnancy have enabled more appropriate estimations of term, and thereby a more accurate identification of postterm pregnancies. The number of postterm deliveries in Norway has decreased, probably due to timely induction of labour. The proportion of infants that are born in gestational week 42 has decreased from 9.4% in 1967 to 4.7% in 2011.¹⁰ Corresponding figures for births in gestational week 43 or later were 4.4% in 1967 and 0.1% in 2011. At the same time, the labour induction rate has almost doubled, from 10.4% in 1967 to 19.1% in 2011.¹⁰ It is not known whether labour was induced before gestational week 42 in older women in particular. However, the overall labour induction rates have been higher in older compared to younger women in recent years.¹⁶³

The low fetal death rate among older mothers in recent years could reflect a change over time in selection to pregnancy and childbirth at a more advanced age. A study using data from the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort, showed that women who were pregnant with their first baby at an advanced age during the period 1999-2008 were more often unemployed, had a lower educational level, less contact with family and friends, were single, and more often overweight or obese compared to first-time mothers aged 25-32 years.¹⁶⁴ In the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort study, only 38.5% of women eligible for inclusion chose to participate. It is therefore uncertain whether the results from this cohort study of first-time mothers may be generalised to all mothers aged 40 years or

older.165

To explore whether changes in the composition of childbearing women could contribute to the decline in fetal death rates in general, and to the changes in age-related risks in particular, we performed supplementary analyses using data from the Medical Birth Registry for the period 1967-2011. We studied changes in the proportion of older women with risk factors for fetal death, such as nulliparity and multiparity, low socioeconomic status, non-Western ethnicity and maternal medical disorders.

Nulliparity and multiparity. We estimated the proportions of women aged 40 years or older who were nulliparous and multiparous, according to year of delivery (Figure 16). The proportion of nulliparous women increased, whereas the proportion of multiparous women (para \geq 4) aged 40 years or older decreased. However, both nulliparity and multiparity are associated with an increased risk of fetal death.^{19,44-46} These findings alone can therefore not support the evidence that older mothers have had a lower risk of fetal death in recent years, compared to the risk they had in the beginning of the period.



Figure 16. Proportions of nulliparous and multiparous women aged 40 years or older at delivery during the period 1967-2011.

Socioeconomic status. Low socioeconomic status has been associated with an increased risk of fetal death,⁵¹ and the socioeconomic conditions of women living in Norway improved during our study period.^{166,167} The increase in socioeconomic status has been relatively larger among older compared to younger women, and could possibly explain the decrease in relative risk of fetal death among older women in term pregnancies in recent years.

To explore whether older women have had an increase in socioeconomic status in particular, additional analyses were performed using data from the Medical Birth Registry combined with data from Statistics Norway (REK 2012-1433). For these analyses, we received help from senior researcher Lars Monkerud and Professor Jostein Grytten at the University of Oslo. Jostein Grytten is the principal investigator for several studies using these data.

Changes in the age-dependent proportion of pregnant women with compulsory school education only were calculated (Figure 17A). We also calculated the age-dependent proportion of pregnant women among the families with the 10% lowest yearly income during the period 1967-2011. Family income was defined as the income of the pregnant woman and her partner (Figure 17B).



B

A



Figure 17. A) Proportions of women with compulsory school education only, and **B)** proportions of women with the 10% lowest family income according to maternal age (20-24 years, 35-39 years and \geq 40 years) and year of delivery during the period 1967-2011.

During the period 1967-2011, the overall proportion of women aged 40 years or older with compulsory education only decreased (Figure 17A). At the same time, the relative difference in educational level between women aged 20-24 years old and women aged 40 years or older increased. Thus, the educational level was higher in older as compared to younger women towards the end of the study period compared to the figures from 40 years ago.

During the same period, the overall proportion of older women with low family income decreased, and the relative difference in family income between younger and older women increased (Figure 17B). Thus, family income was higher in older as compared to younger women towards the end of the study period compared to the figures from 40 years ago. We cannot exclude the possibility that a higher educational level and a higher family income among older women have had an impact on the reduction in fetal death rates in this group of women in recent years.

On the other hand, there are studies that have suggested that low socioeconomic status has not been an important risk factor for fetal death in term pregnancies in recent years. In Paper I, we studied changes in the relative risk of fetal death in term pregnancies according to maternal age from the period 1967-1986 to the period 1987-2006. There is no information available on social disparity in fetal death at term for the first part of our study period. However, a study from 2013, which included all pregnancies among Norwegianborn women during the period 1999-2004, suggested that low maternal educational level is not associated with fetal death at 37 weeks of gestation or above.¹⁶⁸ The findings from the aforementioned study suggest that a higher increase in educational level in older as compared to younger women does not explain the more pronounced decrease in fetal death risk in older women over time.

Decades ago, women with a high educational level, or with a highly educated spouse, had a greater chance of being delivered by caesarean section compared to women with lower education. In recent years, caesarean section has been equally available to all women living in Norway, regardless of their educational level.¹⁶⁹ Thus, obstetric interventions may have played a greater role in the prevention of fetal death in women with low educational level.

Ethnicity. It is well known that non-Western immigrants have an increased risk of fetal

death.¹⁶² Therefore, the proportion of immigrants among childbearing women could influence the fetal death rate.

Forty years ago, very few women from non-Western countries gave birth in Norway. In the first part of our study period (1967-1986), non-Western immigrants contributed to less than 3% of all births, compared to up to 14% in the last part of the study period (1987-2006). If non-Western ethnicity is an important risk factor for fetal death, an increased rather than a decreased fetal death rate would be expected. In our supplementary analyses, we found the increase in deliveries among non-Western immigrants to be less pronounced in older as compared to younger women (Figure 18). However, this relatively small difference cannot explain the large reduction over time in fetal death rates at term among older women.



Figure 18. Proportions of non-Western immigrants among childbearing women, according to maternal age (20-24 years, 35-39 years and \geq 40 years) and year of delivery during the period 1967-2011.

Maternal medical disorders. In supplementary analyses, we also calculated changes in the age-dependent proportions of pregnant women with preeclampsia (Figure 19A), chronic hypertension (Figure 19B), gestational diabetes (Figure 20A) and diabetes mellitus (Figure 20B) during the period 1967-2011.









B



Figure 20. A) Proportions of women with gestational diabetes, and **B)** proportions of women with diabetes mellitus according to maternal age (20-24 years, 35-39 years and \geq 40 years) and year of delivery during the period 1967-2011.

The absolute proportion of women aged 40 years or older with preeclampsia was relatively stable during the period 1967-2011. However, the relative difference in the risk of developing preeclampsia between younger and older women decreased (Figure 19A). The prevalence of other maternal medical disorders associated with an increased risk of fetal death, such as chronic hypertension, gestational diabetes and diabetes mellitus, increased during the study period (Figures 19B, 20A-B). The distribution of these conditions according to maternal age also changed, with an increased proportion of women aged 40 years or older having chronic hypertension, gestational diabetes and diabetes mellitus. Therefore, is not likely that the overall reduction in the risk of fetal death can be explained by improved maternal health. On the contrary, the overall reduction in the risk of fetal death among women aged 40 years or older may be even more prominent than indicated by crude fetal death rates, since there has been an increase in several maternal medical disorders over time, and the increase seems to be higher in older as compared to younger women. Thus, the estimated decrease in fetal death we observed in older women may represent an underestimate. However, improved reporting of maternal disease over time as a source for biased reasoning cannot be ruled out.

• *Has the proportion of fetal deaths attributable to high maternal age changed over time?*

The population-attributable risk of fetal death indicates the importance of a given causal factor, and suggests the number of fetal deaths that could be potentially prevented if this factor was removed. Maternal age is no causal factor of fetal death. However, in large reviews, population-attributable risks have also been estimated for risk factors that do have a significant association with fetal death.¹⁷ Therefore, we calculated the total number of fetal deaths that may be attributed to high maternal age.

In our study population, 55 out of a total of 938 fetal deaths (5.9%) could be attributed to high maternal age in 1967. Corresponding figures were 6/442 (1.4%) in 1986 and 10/388 (2.6%) in 2006. Because of the low number of women giving birth at the age of 40 years or above in Norway, high maternal age has little impact on the total number of fetal deaths, or on fetal death rates in the general population.

The figures below (Figures 21-22) show the number of live births, fetal deaths and the overall changes in age-specific fetal death rates at 22 weeks of gestation or above over time.


B

A



Figure 21. A) Number of live births, and **B)** number of fetal deaths at 22 weeks of gestation or above according to maternal age and year of delivery in Norway during the period 1967-2011.



Figure 22. Changes in fetal death rates at 22 weeks of gestation or above according to maternal age and year of delivery in Norway during the period 1967-2011.

6.3.2 Placental size in pregnancies with fetal death

In Paper II, we found small placentas and small placentas relative to birthweight to be associated with fetal death in preterm and term pregnancies.

However, in preterm pregnancies, large placentas relative to birthweight were also associated with an increased risk of fetal death (Figure 23). It is not surprising to find that small placentas and low placental weight/birthweight ratios are associated with fetal death, as small placentas probably have a reduced capacity to supply the fetus with oxygen and nutrition.^{110,111}



Figure 23. Placental weight relative to birthweight in normal pregnancies as compared to pregnancies with fetal death and pregnancies with high maternal age at childbirth.

• Why are large placentas relative to birthweight associated with preterm fetal death?

A high placental weight/birthweight ratio can represent three different situations:

- i) Enlargement of the placenta and a normal-sized or small infant.
- ii) A normal-sized placenta and a small infant.
- iii) A small placenta and a relatively smaller infant.

In supplementary analyses of preterm births with a high placental weight/birthweight ratio, we found the mean birthweight of stillborn to be lower compared to the birthweight of live-born infants at the same length of gestation. The placental weight of stillborn infants was, however, in many cases equivalent to or even higher than the placental weight of liveborn. In preterm fetal deaths with a normal-sized placenta and a small infant, death may have occurred due to fetal causes, such as chromosomal abnormalities and congenital anomalies. It is unclear why a large placenta relative to birthweight is associated with preterm fetal deaths, and we can only speculate on possible explanations. Could a relatively large placenta be an indicator of the fetus' failure to thrive? Large placentas relative to birthweight have also been found in other high-risk pregnancies, such as pregnancies with diabetes¹³⁰ or preeclampsia,¹²⁹ ART pregnancies¹³⁷ and pregnancies of mothers with low socioeconomic status.¹³⁴ In addition, high placental weight/birthweight ratios have been associated with induction of labour,¹⁵⁸ acute and elective caesarean sections,^{118,158} spontaneous preterm birth,¹⁵⁸ postterm delivery,¹⁵⁸ delivery of low birthweight infants,¹⁵⁸ and excess postpartum haemorrhage.¹⁷⁰ The relative enlargement of the placenta in these pregnancies can be an adequate biological response to increase the chance of fetal survival, but in some pregnancies the enlargement may not be sufficient for the fetus to survive.

Small placentas have been assessed as dysfunctional.^{110,111} However, the function of large placentas is unknown. A relatively large placenta may itself require a lot of oxygen and nutrition, and therefore have a lower capacity to nourish the fetus.

• Why are large placentas relative to birthweight associated with preterm fetal deaths only?

There may be differential causes of fetal death before and at term, and placental dysfunction, measured as a small placenta, may play the greatest role in term fetal deaths. On the other hand, conditions associated with a relatively large placenta may more often cause preterm fetal death. For instance, infections have been suggested to be a more important cause of fetal death in the second trimester than at term,^{27,33,34} and inflammatory changes may cause enlargement of the placenta.¹⁷¹

An alternative explanation is that only the healthiest pregnancies will last until term. Hence, a dysfunctional pregnancy, indicated by a high placental weight/birthweight ratio, may be more likely to result in preterm delivery. It is also possible that pregnancies with a high risk of fetal death are delivered before term to prevent such an event. In many high-risk pregnancies associated with a high placental weight/birth weigh ratio, such as pregnancies with preeclampsia or diabetes,^{129,130} labour is often induced.¹⁷² Thus, preterm induction of labour may prevent fetal deaths that would otherwise have occurred at term. The reduced fetal death rate at term in recent years,¹¹ particularly in pregnancies with preeclampsia¹⁸ or diabetes,¹⁷³ but also in pregnancies of older mothers, supports the hypothesis that timely intervention in high-risk pregnancies prevents fetal deaths.

Reduced peripheral chorionic villous vascularisation has been seen in second trimester fetal deaths.¹⁷⁴ Reduced vascularisation and thereby reduced blood flow causes fetal hypoxia.¹⁷⁴ It is conceivable that placental growth is a long-term form of compensation for fetal hypoxia through increased angiogenesis.^{175,176} In some cases, compensation by placental growth may not be sufficient, and the fetus dies. This hypothesis is more thoroughly explained in the following, since hypoxia could also be the answer to our next question.

6.3.3 Placental size in pregnancies with high maternal age

In Paper III, we found that older mothers had larger placentas and higher placental weight/birthweight ratios compared to younger mothers.

• Why do older mothers have larger placentas and larger placentas relative to birthweight compared to younger women?

It is conceivable that the fetal oxygen supply is lower in older than in younger mothers because of a higher prevalence of vascular degenerative changes in older mothers, such as atheromatosis and arteriosclerosis.¹⁷⁷ Through degenerative changes in the uterine spiral arteries, the uteroplacental blood flow is reduced and circulating intervillous blood is decreased.¹⁷⁸ A reduction in intervillous blood flow may cause a reflectory increase in vascular resistance and thus decreased fetoplacental circulation.¹⁷⁸ Thus, degenerative changes in the uteroplacental vessels may impair the transfer of oxygen from the placenta to the fetus. The placenta may adapt to the relative hypoxia by compensatory placental growth.^{179,180} Generally, hypoxia is known to initiate angiogenesis in the placenta by regulating levels of different angiogenic factors, such as VEGF,^{181,182} and increased angiogenesis may cause placental enlargement.^{175,176} An enlargement of the placenta has also been seen in other pregnancies with reduced oxygenation of the fetus, such as pregnancies with maternal anaemia,^{179,183} maternal smoking¹⁸⁰ and pregnancies of women living in high altitudes.¹⁸⁴ Thus, a high placental weight/birthweight ratio may be an indicator of suboptimal conditions for the fetus.

In some high-risk pregnancies, such as pregnancies with preeclampsia or intrauterine growth restriction, more proliferative and less invasive trophoblasts have been seen.¹⁸¹ This leads to a relatively shallow invasion of uterine spiral arteries and increased uteroplacental resistance.¹⁸¹ The consequences are long-term compromised uteroplacental perfusion, and thus reduced transport of oxygen and nutrients.¹⁸¹ Compensatory placental growth due to hypoxia may again be the result. It is not known whether the trophoblasts are less invasive in older mothers. However, a decline in apoptotic cells and an increased number of proliferative cells in placental trophoblasts have been suggested,¹⁸⁵ and could be another explanation for the large placentas observed in older women.

• Is a relatively large placenta in older women beneficial or detrimental?

At present, more research is needed to answer this question. However, we believe that a large placenta may represent a well-functioning placenta making an effort to save a pregnancy that is threatened due to lack of oxygen. Relative hypoxia, resulting in increased angiogenesis and thereby placental growth may be crucial in older mothers for the pregnancy to succeed. If the woman cannot compensate with an increased production of VEGF, placental growth will be restricted, and the pregnancy may result in miscarriage or fetal death. On the contrary, if the fetus survives, and the compensatory mechanisms are well-functioning, placental enlargement may occur. This is consistent with our hypothesis, suggesting that for some older women, compensatory placental growth may be necessary to achieve a successful pregnancy.

It is, however, also conceivable that a large placenta is an indicator of a well-functioning pregnancy. There may be a differential selection by age of pregnancies that continue until birth of a live infant. Hence, only healthy pregnancies with a large, well-functioning placenta are successful in older women, whereas pregnancies with dysfunctional and small placentas more often end in miscarriage or fetal death (Figure 23). Younger women may have a better biological capacity to successfully deliver a live infant even when the placenta is small and less functional.

6.4 Clinical implications

Our first study may have important clinical implications for pregnancy among older women. Older mothers have an increased risk of fetal death in term and postterm pregnancies. Although a considerable reduction in the fetal death risk in older mother has taken place in recent years, their risk is still increased as compared to the risk in younger mothers. More aggressive efforts to electively deliver, or to induce labour among older women at term and beyond may warrant discussion, but timing of labour induction in postterm pregnancies is a controversial issue.¹⁸⁶⁻¹⁸⁸ Different countries and even different hospitals have dissimilar clinical routines regarding time of induction. Austria and Belgium have a liberal attitude towards induction at, or shortly after term, whereas in Scandinavian countries, a larger proportion of pregnancies that continue beyond term is managed

expectantly.¹⁸⁹ In some countries, such as France and Canada, it has been suggested to systematically induce labour at 41 weeks of gestation rather than having an expectant approach.¹⁸⁹ Our study has shown that there barely is any increased risk of fetal death in postterm pregnancies in Norway since the introduction of ultrasonographic examinations in pregnancy. The reduction in the risk of fetal death from the period 1967-1986 to the period 1987-2006, particularly in term and postterm pregnancies, indicates that improved maternity care has already been implemented, allowing for detection of high-risk pregnancies and thereby timely intervention. The exception may be in pregnancies of women aged 40 years or older. Based on the results of our studies, it is our opinion that in women aged 40 years or older, labour should be induced in gestational week 41. For younger women, the risk of fetal death in postterm pregnancies is so small that changes in the present recommendations of induction of labour may cause more harm than good.

There are no immediate clinical implications of our studies on placental weight, since placental weight is measured after delivery. However, the studies may have potential future importance. The association of a high placental weight/birthweight ratio with fetal death is new and original, and may add important pieces to the puzzle of understanding the causes of fetal death. Measuring placental volume may, in the future, be as important for the evaluation of fetal well-being, as fetal biometry is today. Particularly, the placental weight/birthweight ratio may be an important clinical marker of a high-risk pregnancy.

7 Future perspectives

The risk of fetal death has decreased by almost 70% in Norway during the last four decades.¹¹ However, increasing prevalence of maternal obesity, diabetes mellitus and also demographic changes in the Western world will probably make it difficult to further reduce the fetal death rate.¹⁹⁰ High maternal age at delivery has become a public health issue, since high maternal age is associated with maternal morbidity, poor obstetric outcomes and high rates of obstetric interventions. More knowledge about the mechanisms behind this increased risk is needed.

New technology has probably had a great impact on the reduction of fetal death rates, particularly among older women. High-risk pregnancies can be identified, timely interventions performed, and fetal deaths prevented. Recently, the number of antenatal care visits in Norway has been reduced,¹⁹¹ and low-risk delivery units with less diagnostic technology have been established.¹⁹² It remains to be seen whether this alteration of a well-functioning antenatal and obstetric care system will lead to increased fetal death rates. If so, the oldest women are the most likely to be affected.

The role of placental weight as an indicator of poor obstetric outcome is insufficiently understood. Our findings of large placentas and high placental weight/birthweight ratios in high-risk pregnancies reveal new questions. A deeper understanding of the mechanisms behind this increased ratio and further knowledge about the factors that influence placental growth are needed. High placental weight/birthweight ratios have been associated with short-term adverse perinatal oucome,^{117,118} but also with long-term complications, such as hypertension and cardiovascular disease in adulthood.^{120,121} Infants who have compensated *in utero* because of a suboptimal environment, but have managed to maintain a good birthweight, seem to have undergone physiologic stress that may affect their future health.¹¹⁰ It has also been suggested that women delivering an infant with a large placenta have an increased risk of developing invasive epithelial ovarian cancer later in life.¹⁹³ Hence, changes in placental growth during pregnancy could be associated with altered fetal programming and may have long-term implications for the health of the next generation, but may also influence the health of the mother.

8 Conclusions

In this thesis, which was based on large population-based studies, we found that:

- High maternal age at delivery was associated with an increased risk of fetal death, particularly in term and postterm pregnancies. However, the increased risk of fetal death in older mothers was attenuated in the more recent study period (1987-2006).
- Small and large placentas relative to birthweight were associated with fetal death in preterm pregnancies, whereas only small placentas relative to birthweight were associated with fetal death at term.
- High maternal age was associated with large placentas and also with high placental weight/birthweight ratios.

9 Reference list

- Lawn JE, Blencowe H, Pattinson R et al. Stillbirths: Where? When? Why? How to make the data count? *Lancet* 2011;377:1448-1463.
- Macfarlane A, Gissler M, Bolumar F, Rasmussen S. The availability of perinatal health indicators in Europe. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2003;111:S15-S32.
- Kowaleski J. State definitions and reporting requirements for live births, fetal deaths, and induced terminations of pregnancy (1997 revision). Hyattsville, Maryland: National Center for Health Statistics; 1997.
- Gourbin C, Masuy-Stroobant G. Registration of vital data: are live births and stillbirths comparable all over Europe? *Bull World Health Organ* 1995;73:449-460.
- WHO. International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems: instruction manual. 2nd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004.
- WHO. Neonatal and perinatal mortality for the year 2000: country, regional and global estimates. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006.
- Urdal K, Frøen JF, Husby H, Erichsen A. Intrauterin fosterdød. [Norwegian]. In: Norsk gynekologisk forening [Norwegian Society for Gynaecology and Obstetrics]. Veileder i fødselshjelp 2008. [www.legeforeningen.no/Fagmed/Norskgynekologisk-forening/Veiledere/veileder-i-fodselshjelp-2008/kapittel-28intrauterin-fosterdod]. Accessed 28 May 2013
- Stanton C, Lawn JE, Rahman H, Wilczynska-Ketende K, Hill K. Stillbirth rates: delivering estimates in 190 countries. *Lancet* 2006;367:1487-1494.
- Cousens S, Blencowe H, Stanton C et al. National, regional, and worldwide estimates of stillbirth rates in 2009 with trends since 1995: a systematic analysis. *Lancet* 2011;377:1319-1330.

- Medisinsk fødselsregister [The Medical Birth Registry of Norway]. Medisinsk fødselsregisters statistikkbank [Norwegian] [Updated 2013] [www.fhi.no/mfr]. Accessed 20 May 2013.
- Sarfraz AA, Samuelsen SO, Eskild A. Changes in fetal death during 40 yearsdifferent trends for different gestational ages: a population-based study in Norway. *BJOG* 2011;118:488-494.
- 12. Flenady V, Frøen JF, Pinar H et al. An evaluation of classification systems for stillbirth. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2009;9:24.
- Ego A, Zeitlin J, Batailler P et al. Stillbirth classification in population-based data and role of fetal growth restriction: the example of RECODE. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2013;13:182.
- Frøen JF, Gordijn SJ, Abdel-Aleem H et al. Making stillbirths count, making numbers talk - issues in data collection for stillbirths. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2009;9:58.
- 15. Silver RM. Fetal death. Obstet Gynecol 2007;109:153-167.
- 16. Sibai B, Dekker G, Kupferminc M. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet 2005;365:785-799.
- Flenady V, Koopmans L, Middleton P et al. Major risk factors for stillbirth in highincome countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2011;377:1331-1340.
- Basso O, Rasmussen S, Weinberg CR, Wilcox AJ, Irgens LM, Skjaerven R. Trends in fetal and infant survival following preeclampsia. *JAMA* 2006;296:1357-1362.
- Fretts RC. Etiology and prevention of stillbirth. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2005;193:1923-1935.
- Rasmussen S, Albrechtsen S, Irgens LM et al. Risk factors for unexplained antepartum fetal death in Norway 1967-1998. *Early Hum Dev* 2003;71:39-52.

- Cunningham FG, Leveno KJ, Bloom SL, Hauth JC, Gilstrap III LC, Wenstrom KD. Diseases and Injuries of the Fetus and Newborn. In: Williams Obstetrics. 22nd ed. McGraw-Hill Companies; 2005:649-691.
- 22. Amir H, Weintraub A, Aricha-Tamir B, Apel-Sarid L, Holcberg G, Sheiner E. A piece in the puzzle of intrauterine fetal death: pathological findings in placentas from term and preterm intrauterine fetal death pregnancies. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* 2009;22:759-764.
- ACOG. Committee Opinion No. 348: Umbilical cord blood gas and acid-base analysis. *Obstet Gynecol* 2006;108:1319-1322.
- 24. Shah PS, Perlman M. Time courses of intrapartum asphyxia: neonatal characteristics and outcomes. *Am J Perinatol* 2009;26:39-44.
- Reddy UM, Goldenberg R, Silver R et al. Stillbirth classification developing an international consensus for research: executive summary of a National Institute of Child Health and Human Development workshop. *Obstet Gynecol* 2009;114:901-914.
- 26. Oyelese Y, Ananth CV. Placental abruption. *Obstet Gynecol* 2006;108:1005-1016.
- 27. Ananth CV, Berkowitz GS, Savitz DA, Lapinski RH. Placental abruption and adverse perinatal outcomes. *JAMA* 1999;282:1646-1651.
- Faiz AS, Ananth CV. Etiology and risk factors for placenta previa: an overview and meta-analysis of observational studies. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* 2003;13:175-190.
- 29. Fretts RC, Boyd ME, Usher RH, Usher HA. The changing pattern of fetal death, 1961-1988. *Obstet Gynecol* 1992;79:35-39.
- Owen J, Stedman CM, Tucker TL. Comparison of predelivery versus postdelivery Kleihauer-Betke stains in cases of fetal death. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1989;161:663-666.

- Silver R. Stillbirth: Obstetric conditions. In: Facchinetti F, Dekker GA, Baronciani D, Saade G, editors. Stillbirth. Understanding and Management. Informa Healthcare; 2010:43-54.
- Smith NM. Broadsheet number 56: Mechanisms of fetal loss. *Pathology* 2000;32:107-115.
- Dolk H, Loane M, Garne E. The prevalence of congenital anomalies in Europe. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 2010;686:349-364.
- 34. Boyd PA, Devigan C, Khoshnood B, Loane M, Garne E, Dolk H. Survey of prenatal screening policies in Europe for structural malformations and chromosome anomalies, and their impact on detection and termination rates for neural tube defects and Down's syndrome. *BJOG* 2008;115:689-696.
- Gibbs RS. The origins of stillbirth: infectious diseases. Semin Perinatol 2002;26:75-78.
- Goldenberg RL, Thompson C. The infectious origins of stillbirth. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2003;189:861-873.
- Smith GC, Pell JP, Cameron AD, Dobbie R. Risk of perinatal death associated with labor after previous cesarean delivery in uncomplicated term pregnancies. *JAMA* 2002;287:2684-2690.
- Branch DW. Immunologic disease and fetal death. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 1987;30:295-311.
- Brailovschi Y, Sheiner E, Wiznitzer A, Shahaf P, Levy A. Risk factors for intrapartum fetal death and trends over the years. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2012;285:323-329.
- Saugstad OD. [Better prognosis for the extremely premature infants] [Norwegian]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2010;130:52-54.
- 41. Getahun D, Ananth CV, Kinzler WL. Risk factors for antepartum and intrapartum stillbirth: a population-based study. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2007;196:499-507.

- Fretts RC, Froen JF, Flenady V. Stillbirths and prevention strategies in developing and developed countries. In: Facchinetti F, Dekker GA, Baronciani D, Saade G, editors. Stillbirth. Understanding and Management. Informa Healthcare; 2010:65-70.
- Ahmad AS, Samuelsen SO. Hypertensive disorders in pregnancy and fetal death at different gestational lengths: a population study of 2 121 371 pregnancies. *BJOG* 2012;119:1521-1528.
- 44. Fretts RC, Schmittdiel J, McLean FH, Usher RH, Goldman MB. Increased maternal age and the risk of fetal death. *N Engl J Med* 1995;333:953-957.
- Gardosi J, Madurasinghe V, Williams M, Malik A, Francis A. Maternal and fetal risk factors for stillbirth: population based study. *BMJ* 2013;346:f108.
- 46. Aliyu MH, Salihu HM, Keith LG, Ehiri JE, Islam MA, Jolly PE. Extreme parity and the risk of stillbirth. *Obstet Gynecol* 2005;106:446-453.
- Helgadottir LB, Skjeldestad FE, Jacobsen AF, Sandset PM, Jacobsen EM. Incidence and risk factors of fetal death in Norway: a case-control study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2011;90:390-397.
- Nybo Andersen AM, Hansen KD, Andersen PK, Smith GD. Advanced paternal age and risk of fetal death: a cohort study. *Am J Epidemiol* 2004;160:1214-1222.
- Astolfi P, De Pasquale A, Zonta LA. Late paternity and stillbirth risk. *Hum Reprod* 2004;19:2497-2501.
- Wisborg K, Kesmodel U, Bech BH, Hedegaard M, Henriksen TB. Maternal consumption of coffee during pregnancy and stillbirth and infant death in first year of life: prospective study. *BMJ* 2003;326:420.
- Stephansson O, Dickman PW, Johansson ALV, Cnattingius S. The influence of socioeconomic status on stillbirth risk in Sweden. *Int J Epidemiol* 2001;30:1296-1301.
- Jackson RA, Gibson KA, Wu YW, Croughan MS. Perinatal outcomes in singletons following in vitro fertilization: a meta-analysis. *Obstet Gynecol* 2004;103:551-563.

- Künzel W, Misselwitz B. Unexpected fetal death during pregnancy a problem of unrecognized fetal disorders during antenatal care? *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2003;110:S86-S92.
- 54. MacDorman MF, Kirmeyer S. Fetal and perinatal mortality, United States, 2005. *Natl Vital Stat Rep* 2009;57:1-19.
- 55. Raymond EG, Cnattingius S, Kiely JL. Effects of maternal age, parity, and smoking on the risk of stillbirth. *BJOG* 1994;101:301-306.
- 56. Divon MY, Haglund B, Nisell H, Otterblad PO, Westgren M. Fetal and neonatal mortality in the postterm pregnancy: the impact of gestational age and fetal growth restriction. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1998;178:726-731.
- Cleary-Goldman J, Malone FD, Vidaver J et al. Impact of maternal age on obstetric outcome. *Obstet Gynecol* 2005;105:983-990.
- 58. Luke B, Brown MB. Elevated risks of pregnancy complications and adverse outcomes with increasing maternal age. *Hum Reprod* 2007;22:1264-1272.
- 59. van Katwijk C, Peeters LLH. Clinical aspects of pregnancy after the age of 35 years: a review of the literature. *Hum Reprod Update* 1998;4:185-194.
- 60. Huang L, Sauve R, Birkett N, Fergusson D, van Walraven C. Maternal age and risk of stillbirth: a systematic review. *CMAJ* 2008;178:165-172.
- Eggert J, Sundquist K. Socioeconomic factors, country of birth, and years in Sweden are associated with first birth fertility trends during the 1990s: a national cohort study. *Scand J Public Health* 2006;34:504-514.
- Martin JA, Hamilton BE, Sutton PD, Ventura SJ, Mathews TJ, Osterman MJK. Births: final data for 2008. *Natl Vital Stat Rep* 2010;59:1-72.
- Duchêne J, Gabadinho A, Willems M, Wanner P. Study of low fertility in the regions of the European Union: places, periods and causes. Luxembourg: European Commission; 2004.

- 64. United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE). Statistical Database.[Updated 2013] [www.unece.org]. Accessed 20 May 2013
- Eurostat (European Commission). Statistics Database. [Updated 2013]
 [http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa eu/portal/page/portal/eurostat/home]. Accessed 20 May 2013.
- 66. Tough S, Tofflemire K, Benzies K, Fraser-Lee N, Newburn-Cook C. Factors influencing childbearing decisions and knowledge of perinatal risks among Canadian men and women. *Matern Child Health J* 2007;11:189-198.
- 67. Arbeidsdepartementet [Ministry of labour]. Lov om folketrygd § 14-6 Opptjening av rett til foreldrepenger [Norwegian]. Oslo: Arbeidsdepartementet; 1997.
- Statistisk sentralbyrå [Statistics Norway]. Statistisk sentralbyrås statistikkbank. Ekteskap og skilsmisser. Tabell 05742. [Norwegian] [Updated 2013] [http://www.ssb.no/ekteskap]. Accessed 20 May 2013.
- Statistisk sentralbyrå [Statistics Norway]. Statistisk sentralbyrås statistikkbank. Ekteskap og skilsmisser. Tabell 05865. [Norwegian] [Updated 2013] [http://www.ssb.no/ekteskap]. Accessed 20 May 2013.
- Statistisk sentralbyrå [Statistics Norway]. Oppløyste ekteskap og separasjonar. [Norwegian] [http://www.ssb.no/a/aarbok/tab/tab-101.html]. Accessed 28 May 2013.
- Statistisk sentralbyrå [Statistics Norway]. Statistisk sentralbyrås statistikkbank.
 Ekteskap og skilsmisser. Tabell 05702. [Norwegian] [Updated 2013]
 [http://www.ssb.no/ekteskap]. Accessed 20 May 2013.
- Skjeldestad FE. [Use of contraceptives in Norway in 2005] [Norwegian]. *Tidsskr* Nor Laegeforen 2007;127:2803-2805.
- Helsedirektoratet [The Norwegian Directorate of Health]. Lett tilgjengelig prevensjon til unge kvinner - Helsedirektoratets vurdering og anbefalinger [Norwegian]. Oslo: Helsedirektoratet; 2012.

- Vlietman M, Sarfraz AA, Eskild A. Induced abortion: a means of postponing childbirth? Changes in maternal age at induced abortion and child birth in Norway during 1979-2007. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2010;89:1564-1570.
- 75. Sutcliffe AG, Barnes J, Belsky J, Gardiner J, Melhuish E. The health and development of children born to older mothers in the United Kingdom: observational study using longitudinal cohort data. *BMJ* 2012;345:e5116.
- 76. Tietze C. Reproductive span and rate of reproduction among Hutterite women. *Fertil Steril* 1957;8:89-97.
- 77. te Velde ER, Pearson PL. The variability of female reproductive ageing. *Hum Reprod Update* 2002;8:141-154.
- 78. Fasting M. Det store barneregnskapet [Norwegian]. Oslo: Civita; 2013.
- Balasch J. Ageing and infertility: an overview. *Gynecol Endocrinol* 2010;26:855-860.
- Soares SR, Troncoso C, Bosch E et al. Age and uterine receptiveness: predicting the outcome of oocyte donation cycles. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2005;90:4399-4404.
- 81. The Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Aging and infertility in women. *Fertil Steril* 2006;86:S248-S252.
- Jacobsson B, Ladfors L, Milsom I. Advanced maternal age and adverse perinatal outcome. *Obstet Gynecol* 2004;104:727-733.
- Yang Q, Wen SW, Phillips K, Oppenheimer L, Black D, Walker MC. Comparison of maternal risk factors between placental abruption and placenta previa. *Am J Perinatol* 2009;26:279-286.
- Kaczmarczyk M, Sparén P, Terry P, Cnattingius S. Risk factors for uterine rupture and neonatal consequences of uterine rupture: a population-based study of successive pregnancies in Sweden. *BJOG* 2007;114:1208-1214.

- 85. Astolfi P, Zonta LA. Risks of preterm delivery and association with maternal age, birth order, and fetal gender. *Hum Reprod* 1999;14:2891-2894.
- Cnattingius S, Forman MR, Berendes HW, Isotalo L. Delayed childbearing and risk of adverse perinatal outcome. A population-based study. *JAMA* 1992;268:886-890.
- Rayl J, Gibson PJ, Hickok DE. A population-based case-control study of risk factors for breech presentation. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1996;174:28-32.
- ACOG Practice Bulletin Number 49, December 2003: Dystocia and augmentation of labor. *Obstet Gynecol* 2003;102:1445-1454.
- Naeye RL. Maternal age, obstetric complications, and the outcome of pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 1983;61:210-216.
- Gerdin E, Sverrisdottir G, Badi A, Carlsson B, Graf W. The role of maternal age and episiotomy in the risk of anal sphincter tears during childbirth. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* 2007;47:286-290.
- 91. Heffner LJ, Elkin E, Fretts RC. Impact of labor induction, gestational age, and maternal age on cesarean delivery rates. *Obstet Gynecol* 2003;102:287-293.
- 92. Hollier LM, Leveno KJ, Kelly MA, MCIntire DD, Cunningham FG. Maternal age and malformations in singleton births. *Obstet Gynecol* 2000;96:701-706.
- Penrose LS. The relative effects of paternal and maternal age in mongolism. 1933. J Genet 2009;88:9-14.
- 94. Morton NE, Jacobs PA, Hassold T, Wu D. Maternal age in trisomy. *Ann Hum Genet* 1988;52:227-235.
- 95. Morris JK, Wald NJ, Mutton DE, Alberman E. Comparison of models of maternal age-specific risk for Down syndrome live births. *Prenat Diagn* 2003;23:252-258.
- Al-Zirqi I, Vangen S, Forsen L, Stray-Pedersen B. Prevalence and risk factors of severe obstetric haemorrhage. *BJOG* 2008;115:1265-1272.
- 97. Dietz HP, Simpson JM. Does delayed child-bearing increase the risk of levator injury in labour? *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* 2007;47:491-495.

- Clavel-Chapelon F. Differential effects of reproductive factors on the risk of preand postmenopausal breast cancer. Results from a large cohort of French women. *Br J Cancer* 2002;86:723-727.
- Sjøborg KD, Vistad I, Myhr SS et al. Pregnancy outcome after cervical cone excision: a case-control study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2007;86:423-428.
- Schneider H. [Physiology of the placenta: development of fetal nutrition during pregnancy] [German]. Z Geburtshilfe Neonatol 1997;201:S1-S8.
- Stauber M, Weyerstahl T. Gynäkologie und Geburtshilfe [German]. Stuttgart: Thieme; 2001.
- Moore K.L., Persaud T.V.N. Embryologie. Lehrbuch und Atlas der Entwicklungsgeschichte des Menschen [German]. 4th ed. Stuttgart: Schattauer; 1996.
- Ferrara N, Houck K, Jakeman L, Leung DW. Molecular and biological properties of the vascular endothelial growth factor family of proteins. *Endocr Rev* 1992;13:18-32.
- 104. Tsampalas M, Gridelet V, Berndt S, Foidart JM, Geenen V, Perrier d'Hauterive S. Human chorionic gonadotropin: a hormone with immunological and angiogenic properties. *J Reprod Immunol* 2010;85:93-98.
- Halliday HL. Neonatal management and long-term sequelae. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2009;23:871-880.
- Nicolaides K, Rizzo G, Hecher K, Ximenes R. Doppler in obstetrics. The Fetal Medicine Foundation; 2002.
- Papageorghiou AT, Yu CKH, Bindra R, Pandis G, Nicolaides KH. Multicenter screening for pre-eclampsia and fetal growth restriction by transvaginal uterine artery Doppler at 23 weeks of gestation. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2001;18:441-449.
- Costa SL, Proctor L, Dodd JM et al. Screening for placental insufficiency in highrisk pregnancies: is earlier better? *Placenta* 2008;29:1034-1040.

- Salafia CM, Zhang J, Charles AK et al. Placental characteristics and birthweight. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2008;22:229-239.
- Salafia CM, Charles AK, Maas EM. Placenta and fetal growth restriction. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 2006;49:236-256.
- Thame M, Osmond C, Bennett F, Wilks R, Forrester T. Fetal growth is directly related to maternal anthropometry and placental volume. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2004;58:894-900.
- Wallace JM, Aitken RP, Milne JS, Hay WW, Jr. Nutritionally mediated placental growth restriction in the growing adolescent: consequences for the fetus. *Biol Reprod* 2004;71:1055-1062.
- Thompson JMD, Irgens LM, Skjaerven R, Rasmussen S. Placenta weight percentile curves for singleton deliveries. *BJOG* 2007;114:715-720.
- Hay WW, Jr. Placental-fetal glucose exchange and fetal glucose metabolism. *Trans* Am Clin Climatol Assoc 2006;117:321-339.
- Benirschke K, Burton G, Baergen RN. Histopathological Approach to Villous Alterations. In: Pathology of the Human Placenta. 6th ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2012:395-410.
- 116. Fowden AL, Sferruzzi-Perri AN, Coan PM, Constancia M, Burton GJ. Placental efficiency and adaptation: endocrine regulation. *J Physiol* 2009;587:3459-3472.
- McNamara H, Platt R, Kramer M, Usher R, Hamilton E. The feto-placental ratio: useful predictor of neonatal outcome in preterm infants? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1998;178:S123.
- 118. Shehata F, Levin I, Shrim A et al. Placenta/birthweight ratio and perinatal outcome: a retrospective cohort analysis. *BJOG* 2011;118:741-747.
- McNamara H, Platt R, Kramer M, Usher R, Hamilton E. Feto-placental ratio: A role in antepartum fetal assessment? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1998;178:S168.

- Barker DJP, Bull AR, Osmond C, Simmonds SJ. Fetal and placental size and risk of hypertension in adult life. *BMJ* 1990;301:259-262.
- 121. Risnes KR, Romundstad PR, Nilsen TIL, Eskild A, Vatten LJ. Placental weight relative to birth weight and long-term cardiovascular mortality: findings from a cohort of 31,307 men and women. *Am J Epidemiol* 2009;170:622-631.
- 122. Eskild A, Vatten LJ. Do pregnancies with pre-eclampsia have smaller placentas? A population study of 317 688 pregnancies with and without growth restriction in the offspring. *BJOG* 2010;117:1521-1526.
- 123. Piper JM, Xenakis EM, McFarland M, Elliott BD, Berkus MD, Langer O. Do growth-retarded premature infants have different rates of perinatal morbidity and mortality than appropriately grown premature infants? *Obstet Gynecol* 1996;87:169-174.
- 124. Irgens LM. The Medical Birth Registry of Norway. Epidemiological research and surveillance throughout 30 years. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2000;79:435-439.
- 125. Beemsterboer SN, Homburg R, Gorter NA, Schats R, Hompes PGA, Lambalk CB. The paradox of declining fertility but increasing twinning rates with advancing maternal age. *Hum Reprod* 2006;21:1531-1532.
- Bortolus R, Parazzini F, Chatenoud L, Benzi G, Bianchi MM, Marini A. The epidemiology of multiple births. *Hum Reprod Update* 1999;5:179-187.
- Hansen JP. Older maternal age and pregnancy outcome: a review of the literature. Obstet Gynecol Surv 1986;41:726-742.
- 128. Lamminpää R, Vehviläinen-Julkunen K, Gissler M, Heinonen S. Preeclampsia complicated by advanced maternal age: a registry-based study on primiparous women in Finland 1997-2008. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2012;12:47.
- Eskild A, Romundstad PR, Vatten LJ. Placental weight and birthweight: does the association differ between pregnancies with and without preeclampsia? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2009;201:595.

- Strøm-Roum EM, Haavaldsen C, Tanbo TG, Eskild A. Placental weight relative to birthweight in pregnancies with maternal diabetes mellitus. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2013;92:783-789.
- Casson IF, Clarke CA, Howard CV et al. Outcomes of pregnancy in insulin dependent diabetic women: results of a five year population cohort study. *BMJ* 1997;315:275-278.
- Conde-Agudelo A, Belizán JM, Díaz-Rossello JL. Epidemiology of fetal death in Latin America. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2000;79:371-378.
- Cundy T, Gamble G, Townend K, Henley PG, MacPherson P, Roberts AB. Perinatal mortality in Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabet Med* 2000;17:33-39.
- Williams LA, Evans SF, Newnham JP. Prospective cohort study of factors influencing the relative weights of the placenta and the newborn infant. *BMJ* 1997;314:1864-1868.
- Cnattingius S. The epidemiology of smoking during pregnancy: smoking prevalence, maternal characteristics, and pregnancy outcomes. *Nicotine Tob Res* 2004;6:S125-S140.
- Wallace JM, Bhattacharya S, Horgan GW. Gestational age, gender and parity specific centile charts for placental weight for singleton deliveries in Aberdeen, UK. *Placenta* 2013;34:269-274.
- Haavaldsen C, Tanbo T, Eskild A. Placental weight in singleton pregnancies with and without assisted reproductive technology: a population study of 536 567 pregnancies. *Hum Reprod* 2012;27:576-582.
- Kirkwood BR, Sterne JAC. Analysis of numerical outcomes: The normal distribution. In: Essential medical statistics. 2nd ed. Malden, Massachusetts: Blackwell Pub; 2003:42-49.
- Eriksson JG, Kajantie E, Osmond C, Thornburg K, Barker DJP. Boys live dangerously in the womb. *Am J Hum Biol* 2010;22:330-335.

- 140. Montan S. Increased risk in the elderly parturient. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* 2007;19:110-112.
- Rothman KJ. Dealing with biases. In: Epidemiology. An Introduction. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2013:124-147.
- Engeland A, Bjørge T, Daltveit AK, Vollset SE, Furu K. Validation of disease registration in pregnant women in the Medical Birth Registry of Norway. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2009;88:1083-1089.
- Gissler M, Louhiala P, Hemminki E. Nordic Medical Birth Registers in epidemiological research. *Eur J Epidemiol* 1997;13:169-175.
- 144. Melve KK, Lie RT, Skjaerven R et al. Registration of Down syndrome in the Medical Birth Registry of Norway: validity and time trends. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2008;87:824-830.
- 145. Rasmussen S, Albrechtsen S, Irgens LM et al. Unexplained antepartum fetal death in Norway, 1985-97: diagnostic validation and some epidemiologic aspects. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2003;82:109-115.
- Skomsvoll J, Østensen M, Baste V, Irgens LM. Validity of a rheumatic disease diagnosis in the Medical Birth Registry of Norway. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2002;81:831-834.
- Eskild A, Nesheim BI, Berglund T, Totlandsdal JK, Andresen JF. [Geographical variation in the occurrence of induced late abortions in Norway 1996-97]
 [Norwegian]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2001;121:24-27.
- 148. Olsen O, Clausen JA. [Determination of the expected day of delivery ultrasound has not been shown to be more accurate than the calendar method] [Danish]. Ugeskr Laeger 1998;160:2088-2090.
- Backe B, Nakling J. Term prediction in routine ultrasound practice. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 1994;73:113-118.

- Tunón K, Eik-Nes SH, Grøttum P. A comparison between ultrasound and a reliable last menstrual period as predictors of the day of delivery in 15,000 examinations. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 1996;8:178-185.
- Arca G, Botet F, Palacio M, Carbonell-Estrany X. Timing of umbilical cord clamping: new thoughts on an old discussion. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* 2010;23:1274-1285.
- 152. Fox H. Morphological changes in the human placenta following fetal death. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 1968;75:839-843.
- 153. Browne JC, Veall N. The maternal placental blood flow in normotensive and hypertensive women. *J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp* 1953;60:141-147.
- 154. Strachan GI. The Pathology of foetal maceration: a study of 24 cases. *BMJ* 1922;2:80-82.
- Janssen W. Postmortem changes (histothanathology). In: Forensic histopathology. Berlin: Springer Verlag; 1984:14-53.
- Cnattingius S, Bergström R, Lipworth L, Kramer MS. Prepregnancy weight and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes. *N Engl J Med* 1998;338:147-152.
- Drøyvold WB, Nilsen TIL, Krüger Ø et al. Change in height, weight and body mass index: Longitudinal data from the HUNT Study in Norway. *Int J Obes* 2006;30:935-939.
- 158. Wallace JM, Horgan GW, Bhattacharya S. Placental weight and efficiency in relation to maternal body mass index and the risk of pregnancy complications in women delivering singleton babies. *Placenta* 2012;33:611-618.
- 159. Reddy UM, Ko CW, Willinger M. Maternal age and the risk of stillbirth throughout pregnancy in the United States. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2006;195:764-770.
- Kirby RS. Congenital anomalies are poorly ascertained in US vital statistics. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2007;197:114.

- Eskild A, Helgadottir LB, Jerve F, Qvigstad E, Stray-Pedersen S, Løset Å. [Induced abortion among women with foreign cultural background in Oslo] [Norwegian]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2002;122:1355-1357.
- Naimy Z, Grytten J, Monkerud L, Eskild A. Perinatal mortality in non-western migrants in Norway as compared to their countries of birth and to Norwegian women. *BMC Public Health* 2013;13:37.
- Mealing NM, Roberts CL, Ford JB, Simpson JM, Morris JM. Trends in induction of labour, 1998-2007: a population-based study. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* 2009;49:599-605.
- 164. Nilsen ABV, Waldenström U, Hjelmsted A, Rasmussen S, Schytt E. Characteristics of women who are pregnant with their first baby at an advanced age. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2012;91:353-362.
- Nilsen RM, Vollset SE, Gjessing HK et al. Self-selection and bias in a large prospective pregnancy cohort in Norway. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2009;23:597-608.
- Statistisk sentralbyrå [Statistics Norway]. Statistisk sentralbyrås statistikkbank.
 Befolkningens utdanningsnivå. Tabell 09429. [Norwegian] [Updated 2013]
 [http://www.ssb.no/utdanning/statistikker/utniv]. Accessed 2 January 2014.
- Statistisk sentralbyrå [Statistics Norway]. Statistisk sentralbyrås statistikkbank.
 Lønn, alle ansatte. Tabell 05218. [Norwegian] [Updated 2013]
 [http://www.ssb.no/arbeid-og-lonn/statistikker/lonnansatt/aar]. Accessed 2 January 2014.
- 168. Carlsen F, Grytten J, Eskild A. Maternal education and risk of offspring death; changing patterns from 16 weeks of gestation until one year after birth. *Eur J Public Health* 2013 [Epub ahead of print].
- Grytten J, Skau I, Sørensen R. Do expert patients get better treatment than others? Agency discrimination and statistical discrimination in obstetrics. *J Health Econ* 2011;30:163-180.

- 170. Eskild A, Vatten LJ. Placental weight and excess postpartum haemorrhage: a population study of 308,717 pregnancies. *BJOG* 2011;118:1120-1125.
- Malan AF, Woods DL, Van der Elst CW, Meyer MP. Relative placental weight in congenital syphilis. *Placenta* 1990;11:3-6.
- ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 107: Induction of labor. *Obstet Gynecol* 2009;114:386-397.
- Hellesen HB, Vikane E, Lie RT, Irgens LM. [Maternal diabetes normalized perinatal mortality, but still high fetal growth] [Norwegian]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 1996;116:3465-3469.
- van Oppenraaij RH, Nik H, Heathcote L et al. Compromised chorionic villous vascularization in idiopathic second trimester fetal loss. *Early Hum Dev* 2010;86:469-472.
- 175. Åsvold BO, Vatten LJ, Romundstad PR, Jenum PA, Karumanchi SA, Eskild A. Angiogenic factors in maternal circulation and the risk of severe fetal growth restriction. *Am J Epidemiol* 2011;173:630-639.
- Wang K, Jiang YZ, Chen DB, Zheng J. Hypoxia enhances FGF2- and VEGFstimulated human placental artery endothelial cell proliferation: roles of MEK1/2/ERK1/2 and PI3K/AKT1 pathways. *Placenta* 2009;30:1045-1051.
- 177. Selvin E, Erlinger TP. Prevalence of and risk factors for peripheral arterial disease in the United States: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999-2000. *Circulation* 2004;110:738-743.
- 178. Vorherr H. Placental insufficiency in relation to postterm pregnancy and fetal postmaturity. Evaluation of fetoplacental function; management of the postterm gravida. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1975;123:67-103.
- Kadyrov M, Kosanke G, Kingdom J, Kaufmann P. Increased fetoplacental angiogenesis during first trimester in anaemic women. *Lancet* 1998;352:1747-1749.
- Pfarrer C, Macara L, Leiser R, Kingdom J. Adaptive angiogenesis in placentas of heavy smokers. *Lancet* 1999;354:303.

- 181. Mayhew TM, Ohadike C, Baker PN, Crocker IP, Mitchell C, Ong SS. Stereological investigation of placental morphology in pregnancies complicated by pre-eclampsia with and without intrauterine growth restriction. *Placenta* 2003;24:219-226.
- 182. Taylor CM, Stevens H, Anthony FW, Wheeler T. Influence of hypoxia on vascular endothelial growth factor and chorionic gonadotrophin production in the trophoblast-derived cell lines: JEG, JAr and BeWo. *Placenta* 1997;18:451-458.
- Lao TT, Wong WM. Placental ratio its relationship with mild maternal anaemia. *Placenta* 1997;18:593-596.
- Krüger H, Arias-Stella J. The placenta and the newborn infant at high altitudes. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1970;106:586-591.
- Yamada Z, Kitagawa M, Takemura T, Hirokawa K. Effect of maternal age on incidences of apoptotic and proliferative cells in trophoblasts of full-term human placenta. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2001;7:1179-1185.
- Gülmezoglu AM, Crowther CA, Middleton P, Heatley E. Induction of labour for improving birth outcomes for women at or beyond term. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012;6:CD004945.
- Menticoglou SM, Hall PF. Routine induction of labour at 41 weeks gestation: nonsensus consensus. *BJOG* 2002;109:485-491.
- 188. Wennerholm U-B, Hagberg H, Brorsson B, Bergh C. Induction of labor versus expectant management for post-date pregnancy: Is there sufficient evidence for a change in clinical practice? *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2009;88:6-17.
- Zeitlin J, Blondel B, Alexander S, Bréart G. Variation in rates of postterm birth in Europe: reality or artefact? *BJOG* 2007;114:1097-1103.
- Cnattingius S, Stephansson O. The challenges of reducing risk factors for stillbirths. Lancet 2011;377:1294-1295.
- Sosial- og helsedirektoratet [The Norwegian Directorate of Health and Care Services]. Omsorg for gravide kvinner. Retningslinjer for svangerskapsomsorgen [Norwegian]. Oslo: Sosial- og helsedirektoratet; 2005:57-60.

- Sosialkomiteen [Social Committee]. Innstilling fra sosialkomiteen om akuttmedisinsk beredskap. Innst. S. nr. 300 (2000-2001) [Norwegian]. Oslo: Sosialkomiteen; 2001.
- 193. Cnattingius S, Eloranta S, Adami HO et al. Placental weight and risk of invasive epithelial ovarian cancer with an early age of onset. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2008;17:2344-2349.

APPENDIX

Ι

#

Notification forms Medical Birth Registry of Norway 1967 - December 1998 and December 1998 – present

Registreringsskjema fra 1967-1998

STATENS HELSETILSYN Postboks 8128 Dep. 0032 OSLO

Medisinsk registrering av fødsel

Sendes 9. dag etter fødselen til fylkeslegen (stadsfysikus) i det fylket der moren er bosatt.

Merk: Det skal fylles ut blankett for hvert barn (toster). Dør barnet etter fødselen, skal det også fylles ut legeerklæring om dødsfall, og/eller dødsfallet meldes til skifteretten (lensmannen).

	Barnet var		⊐ Dødfødt	Født dag, mnd.,	âr		Klokkeslett	Personnr.	Skriv ikke her	
	1 født	2	foster				Vigoo			
	1 Enkel	2	Tvilling 3	Trilling 4	Firling		1 Gutt 2	Pike		
Barnet	Etternavn, alle fornavn (bare for levendefødte)									
	Fødested. Navn	og adre	sse på sykehu	set/fødehjemmet			Kommune	Commune		
	'									
Faren	Etternavn, alle fo	mavn					Født dag, mnd., år	Bostedskommune		
	Etternavn alle fr	00920	Fadt dag mod år							
	Bosted. Adresse Kommune									
Moren	Ekteskapelig sta	tus						Ekteskapsår (gifte)		
	1 Ugift	6	Samboende	2 Gift 3	Enke 4	S	Separert 5 Skilt	Detterte		
	(før denne fødse	len)		Levende tødte	9	AVG	1550 T IIVO	Dødrødte		
	Er moren i slekt	med far	ren?							
	1 Nei	2	Ja. Hvilket sl	ektskapsforhold:						
Marona										
helse før	1 Normal	2	Sykdom (spe	sifiser):						
skapet							Siste menstruasjons fø blødningsdag	rste		
				_						
Morens beise under	1 Normal	2	Komplikasjor	er (spesifiser):						
svanger-									-	
БКарос										
Ble fødselen		. –	٦.							
piovosen	1 Nei 2 Ja									
	1 Nei	2	Ja (spesifise	r):						
fødselen	Inngrepet utført a	av								
	1 Lege 2 Jordmor									
Komplika-										
sjoner i forbindelse	1 Nei 2 Ja (sposifiser):									
med fødselen										
Fostervann,	1 Normalt 2 Patologisk (spesifiser):									
naviesnor										
	Bare for levende fødte. Tegn på asfyksi? Apgarscore etter 1 min. etter 5 min.									
	1 Noi 2 Ja Enr Iovende forte on dedfarte Tenn nå metfort annmali nå skarle eller svirrinm?									
1	1 Nei	2	Ja. Hvilke:		, pa siaso sini s j i	,				
Barnets		_		_						
tilstand	Lengde (i cm)	Hode	⊢omkr. (i cm)	Vekt (i g)	For døde innen 2 Livet varte i	4 time	r Timer	Min		
	For dotforte Dates instruction									
	Dødsårsak:									
	Seksjon? 1 Nei 2 Ja									
Alvorlige	1 Nei	2	Ja Sykdom	mens art og hos h	vilke slektninger:					
arvelige lidelser i										
slekten										

Dato

Jordmor

Lege

Sted (sykehusets stempel)

IK - 1002.

	Ň) Meldir	ng om avsluttet sva	angerskap etter 12	. uke – Føds	el, dødfødsel, sponta	anabort	🕷 Sosial- og helsedirektoratet		
ſ		IIK Se uuynni		Dansiden			Mors fulle navn og adresse			
		Institusjonsnr:	Institusjonsnavn	1		Fødsel utenfor institusjon:				
Jusninger	Inge					Hjemme, planlagt				
	uskic	Mors Gift Uaift/enslia Anr				Under transport	Pikenavn (etternavn):			
	e opl	sivilstatus	Samboer Skilt	/separert/enke		Annet sted				
		Slektskap mellom	Nei Hvis ja,			Mors				
<	ł		Ja hvorledes:	: fulle navn		bokommune				
		fødselsdato					fødselsnr:			
		Siste menstr.		Sikker Mors tidliger	e Levende-	Dødfødte (24.	Spontanabort/	Død- Spontanaborter		
		1. blødn.dag		Usikker svangerskap	rødte fødte	uke og over)	fødte (12.–23.	uke) (under 12. uke)		
alea		Ultralyd utført?		Annen prena diagnostikk?	Ja, angi	type:	Patolog	jiske funn ved Ja, hvis bekreftet – spesifiser		
	leise	Spesielle forhold	Astma	Kronisk nyresykdom	Epilepsi	Regelmessig kosttilsku	dd: Spesifikasjon av fo	orhold før eller under svangerskapet:		
	IOLS	før svangerskapet:	Allergi	Kronisk hypertensjon	Diabetes type 1	Nei Før sv.sk.	I sv.sk.			
	⊔ Bo	Intet spesielt	Bes. urinveisinfeksion	Reumatoid artritt Diabetes type		r i «B» Folat/Folsvre				
1	skap	Snesielle	Blødning < 13 uke	Hypertensjon alene	Eklampsi	Annet, spesifiser i «E	3»			
	Inger	forhold under	Blødning 13–28 uke	Preeklampsi lett	Hb < 9.0 g/dl					
	II SVB		Blødning > 28 uke	Preeklampsi alvorlig	Hb > 13.5 g/dl	Legemidler i svangersk	apet:	et:		
ć	5	Inter spesielt	Svangerskapsdiabetes	HELLP syndrom	Infeksion, spes.	i «B» Ja – spesifiser i «B»				
ſ	ם	Røyking og yrke	Røykte mor ved	Nei Daglig	Mor	s Samtykker ikke for yrk	esoppl. Mors yrke			
		- se rettledning på bak	siden sv.sk. begynnelse	Av og til Ant. sig. da	igl.:	Ikke yrkesakti	v			
		Skriftlig orienter	for ravkeoppl avslutning	Nei Daglig Av on til Ant. sin. da	al.:	Yrkesaktiv he	Itid Bransje:			
		Leie/presentasjon:	Sete	Fødselstart: Ev	. induksjons-	Prostaglandin	Indikasjon for	Komplikasjoner som beskrevet nedenfor		
		Normal	Tverrleie	Spontan		Oxytocin	induksjon	Fostermisdannelser		
		Dakiloue	Avvikende hodefødsel	Indusert		Amniotomi		Overtid		
		Inngrep/tiltak	Utskj. tang, hodeleie	Fremhj. ved setefødsel:	Sectio:	Annet, spesinser I «C»	Spesifikasjon av fo	orhold ved fødselen/andre komplikasjoner		
		Ingen Annen tang, hodeleie		Vanlig fremhjelp Var sectio planlagt før fødsel? Nei Ja						
			Vakuumekstraktor	Uttrekning Utført som elek		tiv sectio				
	seler	Komplikasioner Vannavo, 12–24 timer		Placenta previa	Blødn.> 1500 ml.	, transf. Truende intrauterin a	sfyksi			
		Ingen	Vannavg. > 24 timer	Abruptio placentae Blødning 500- Perinealruptur (grad 1-2) Eklampsi unde		600 ml 🔲 Risvekkelse, stimuler	rt			
Ċ	5		Mekaniske misforhold			fødsel 📃 Langsom fremgang				
		Anestesi/analgesi:	Vanskelig skulderforløsning	g Sphincterruptur (gr. 3-4)	Sphincterruptur (gr. 3-4) Navlesnorfrem		Annet:			
		Ingen	Petidin	Spinal	Infiltrasjon	Narkose A	Annet:			
		Placenta:	Koagler	Navlesnor Omslyng ru		hals Fostervann	_	Komplikasjoner hos mor etter fødsel		
		Normal	Utskrapning	Normal	Normal Annet omslyng		Misfarget	Intet spesielt Mor overflyttet		
		Ufullstendia		Marginalt feste	Ekle khule	Oligohydramnion	Blodtilblandet	Trombose Sepsis		
		Infarkter	vekt	Karanomalier	Navlesnor- lengde:			Eklampsi post partum Annet, spesifiser		
		Fødselsdato	Klokken	Pluralitet For fl	erfødsel:	Kjønn Gutt Ba	arnets	Total Apgar score:		
				Elerfødsel Nr	Av totalt	Pike ve Ved tvil snesifiser i «D»	kt:	lengde: 1 min		
						For dødfødte: Usikkert kjønr	Hode- n omkrets:	sete-issemål: 5 min		
		Barnet var:	For dødfødte	e: Død før fødsel	For dødfødte, oppg	gi også Levendefødt, død ir	nnen 24 timer	Død senere (dato): Klokken		
		Levendefødt	Dødfødt/sp.abort Oppgi dødsårsak i «D»	Død under fødselen	Død før innkom:	st Livet mst varte Timer	Min			
	arnet	Overfl. barneavd.		Overfl. til		Indikasjon for	Respirasjonsproblem	Medfødte misd. Annet, spesifiser		
d Gra		Nei Ja Dato:		<u>ц</u>		overflytting:	Prematur	Perinatale infeksjoner		
	-	Neonatale diagn.:	Hypoglyk. (< 2 mmol/l)	Transit. tachypnoe	Cerebral irritasj	on Konjunktivitt beh.	Fract. claviculae	Behandlingskoder: Icterus behandlet:		
₽.00.		lege/pediater) Hofteleddsdyspl. beh. m/pu		Ite Aspirasjonssyndrom	Abstinens	Perinat. inf. bakterielle	Facialisparese	Respiratorbeh. Utskifting		
ю. Н		Intet spesielt		Intrakraniell blødning	Neonatale kram	per Perinat. inf. andre	Plexusskade	CPAP beh. Årsak:		
290		Tegn til D ^{Spesifikasjon av skader, neonatale diagnoser og medfødte misdannelser - utfylles av lege}								
22		meatøate misdannelser:						RH immunisering		
2		Nei Ja						Annen årsak		
_		Г	Kryss av hvis skjema er oppfølgingsskjema	Jordmor v/fødsel:				Utskrivningsdato		
				Jordmor v/utskrivning:				Mor:		
P	roi	tokolinr.:	1	Lege:		Lege barsel/barneavd:		Barn:		